
1 

CITY OF DELAWARE 
CITY COUNCIL 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
1 SOUTH SANDUSKY STREET 

7:00 P.M.  

AGENDA 

7:00 P.M. REGULAR MEETING July 22, 2019 

1. ROLL CALL

2. INVOCATION – Nicol Ghazi, Islamic Center for Delaware County

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

4. APPROVAL of the Motion Summary of the regular meeting of Council
held on July 8, 2019, as recorded and transcribed.

5. CONSENT AGENDA
A. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Board of Zoning Appeal 

meeting held on April 10, 2019, as recorded and transcribed.  
B. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Planning Commission 

meeting held on June 5, 2019, as recorded and transcribed. 
C. Resolution No. 19-32, a resolution authorizing the City Manager to 

prepare and submit an application to participate in the Ohio Public 
Works Commission (OPWC) Local Transportation Improvements 
(LTIP) Grant Program (Round 34), and to execute contracts as 
required for the Belle Avenue Resurfacing and West William Street 
(US 36) Base Repair Project.  

D. Resolution No. 19-33, a resolution authorizing the City Manager to 
enter into a cooperation agreement with Delaware County for an 
application to the Ohio Public Works Commission (OPWC) for the 
pavement resurfacing and rehabilitation of Belle Avenue and West 
William Street (Round 34 Application).  

6. LETTERS, PETITIONS, AND PUBLIC COMMENTS

7. COMMITTEE REPORTS

8. PRESENTATION
A. Update from the Delaware General Health District – Shelia Hiddleson, 

Health Commissioner 



2 

9. DIRECTOR UPDATE
A. Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 

10. SECOND READING of Ordinance No. 19-38, an ordinance declaring the
improvement to certain parcels in the City to be a public purpose and
exempt from taxation pursuant to ORC 5709.40(B); providing for the
collection and deposit of service payments and specifying the purposes
for which those service payments may be expended; and authorizing
school compensation payment.

11. SECOND READING of Ordinance No. 19-39, an ordinance supplementing
the 2019 Appropriations Ordinance in the amount of $10,000 and
authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement to participate
into an agreement to participate in a Regional Housing Strategy.

12. CONSIDERATION of Resolution No. 19-34, a resolution accepting
negotiated changes to the Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) patrol and
supervisors agreements with the City of Delaware.

13. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 19-43, an ordinance for Stronghold
Construction approving a Combined Preliminary and Final Development
Plan for Stronghold Industrial Park located at 1327 London Road on
approximately 6.2 acres zoned M-2 (General Manufacturing District).

14. ETHICS TRAINING FOR ELECTED OFFICIALS

15. FINANCE DIRECTOR’S REPORT

16. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT

17. COUNCIL COMMENTS

18. ADJOURNMENT



























  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM C DATE: 7/22/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 19-32 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO PREPARE AND 
SUBMIT AN APPLICATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE OHIO PUBLIC WORKS 
COMMISSION (OPWC) LOCAL TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS (LTIP) 
GRANT PROGRAM (ROUND 34), AND TO EXECUTE CONTRACTS AS 
REQUIRED FOR THE BELLE AVENUE RESURFACING AND WEST WILLIAM 
STREET (US 36) BASE REPAIR PROJECT. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Belle Avenue is an east/west major collector that carries over 2000 vehicles per 
day.  Belle Avenue pavement is in poor condition and could become very poor 
after this upcoming winter. The scope of improvements for Belle Avenue 
includes: 
 

1. Perform spot repairs to approximately 5% of the roadway. 
2. Remove the remainder of the old surface course of asphalt to a depth 

of 1.5”. 
3. Install a new surface course of asphalt. 
4. Install new thermoplastic pavement markings and upgrade all signs. 
5. Upgrade the signal detection at Belle/Sandusky.  

 
West William Street (US 36) is the main east/west major arterial through the 
city.  West William carries over 15,000 vehicles per day – including a high 
number of semi-trucks.  The condition of West William varies from Good to 



Poor.  The proposed base repairs are generally located where semi-truck wheel 
paths have caused the existing pavement base to fail. 
 
The project limits along West William are to the CSX rail tracks to the 
west and Franklin Street to the east.  ODOT does not currently have a year 
designated to resurface this section of roadway.  The scope of this project is to 
concentrate base repair efforts (no rail removal) starting at the CSX rail line 
and ending at Franklin Street.  During design of the improvements, Public 
Works may try to make room in the project budget to apply a thin asphalt 
overlay over the limits of the base repair to delay water infiltrating around the 
edges of the new repairs.  A treatment of this type would allow for 
thermoplastic paving markings to be re-applied if we are certain Urban 
Resurfacing will not be performed within 5 years. 
 
In 2011, the city undertook a major base repair and rail removal project in this 
same vicinity at a cost approaching $600,000.  During this project, a high 
concentration of base repairs were done from the Hidden Valley Golf Course to 
the CSX rail tracks.  These repairs are holding up well.  Also in 2011, old 
trolley tracks were removed from under West William from the CSX rail line to 
Catherine Street, along with some spot base repair.  These repairs have also 
held up well.     
 
Lastly, Public Works is submitting a CIP request this year for a total re-build of 
William Street (Sandusky to Penick).  The proposed year for construction is 
2028, with a total price for the project approaching $9M (2019 dollars). 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Passage of this Resolution authorizes the City Manager to apply for grant 
funding in the amount of $495,000 from OPWC.  If grant funding is awarded, 
this Resolution also allows the City Manager to sign a formal OPWC Project 
Agreement (in July of 2020).  
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
The Public Works Committee will have the opportunity to discuss the details of 
this project in its next regularly scheduled meeting. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
The total project cost is currently estimated at $702,835. Delaware County will 
be contributing $75,000 to the project.  The grant request will be $495,000.  
Submitting a complete application requires budgeting sufficient funding to 
cover the City’s contribution to the project, currently estimated at $207,835.   
The current CIP shows the total allocation for this project as $700,000. 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
Delaware County has increased their standard grant match from $50,000 to 
$75,000 starting with this application. 



 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval   
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
OPWC Round 34 Exhibit 
West William Base Repair Exhibit 
Engineer’s Estimate 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 19-32 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 

TO PREPARE AND SUBMIT AN APPLICATION TO 
PARTICIPATE IN THE OHIO PUBLIC WORKS 
COMMISSION (OPWC) LOCAL TRANSPORTATION 
IMPROVEMENTS (LTIP) GRANT PROGRAM (ROUND 
34), AND TO EXECUTE CONTRACTS AS REQUIRED 
FOR THE BELLE AVENUE RESURFACING AND WEST 
WILLIAM STREET (US 36) BASE REPAIR PROJECT. 

 
WHEREAS, the Local Transportation Improvements Program provides 

financial assistance to political subdivisions for capital improvements to public 
infrastructure; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware seeks to improve the pavement condition 

by performing pavement resurfacing and rehabilitation operations to Belle Avenue 
and West William Street; and 

 
WHEREAS, the infrastructure improvements herein above described is 

considered to be a priority need for the community and is a qualified project under 
the OPWC program 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 
 SECTION 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to submit an application 
to the Ohio Public Works Commission for LTIP Program Grant Funds, (Round 34) 
for the construction of pavement resurfacing and rehabilitation improvements to 
Belle Avenue and West William Street. 
 

SECTION 2. The City Manager is further authorized to enter into any 
agreement as may be necessary and appropriate to obtaining this financial 
assistance and contracting the work to be performed.  
 

SECTION 3. That this resolution shall be in force and effect immediately 
upon its passage. 

 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 









  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM D DATE: 7/22/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 19-33 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A 
COOPERATION AGREEMENT WITH DELAWARE COUNTY FOR AN 
APPLICATION TO THE OHIO PUBLIC WORKS COMMISSION (OPWC) FOR THE 
PAVEMENT RESURFACING AND REHABILITATION OF BELLE AVENUE AND 
WEST WILLIAM STREET (ROUND 34 APPLICATION). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Belle Avenue is an east/west major collector that carries over 2000 vehicles per 
day.  Belle Avenue pavement is in poor condition and could become very poor 
after this upcoming winter.  The scope of improvements for Belle Avenue 
includes: 
 

1. Perform spot repairs to approximately 5% of the roadway. 
2. Remove the remainder of the old surface course of asphalt to a depth 

of 1.5”. 
3. Install a new surface course of asphalt. 
4. Install new thermoplastic pavement markings and upgrade all signs. 
5. Upgrade the signal detection at Belle/Sandusky.  

 
 
West William Street (US 36) is the main east/west major arterial through the 
city.  West William carries over 15,000 vehicles per day – including a high 
number of semi-trucks.  The condition of West William varies from Good to Poor.  



The proposed base repairs are generally located where semi-truck wheel paths 
have caused the existing pavement base to fail. 
 
The project limits along West William are to the CSX rail tracks to the west 
and Franklin Street to the east.  ODOT does not currently have a year 
designated to resurface this section of roadway.  The scope of this project is to 
concentrate base repair efforts (no rail removal) starting at the CSX rail line and 
ending at Franklin Street.  During design of the improvements, Public Works 
may try to make room in the project budget to apply a thin asphalt overlay over 
the limits of the base repair to delay water infiltrating around the edges of the 
new repairs.  A treatment of this type would allow for thermoplastic paving 
markings to be re-applied if we are certain Urban Resurfacing will not be 
performed within 5 years. 
 
In 2011, the city undertook a major base repair and rail removal project in this 
same vicinity at a cost approaching $600,000.  During this project, a high 
concentration of base repairs were done from the Hidden Valley Golf Course to 
the CSX rail tracks.  These repairs are holding up well.  Also in 2011, old trolley 
tracks were removed from under West William from the CSX rail line to Catherine 
Street, along with some spot base repair.  These repairs have also held up well.     
 
Lastly, Public Works is submitting a CIP request this year for a total re-build of 
William Street (Sandusky to Penick).  The proposed year for construction is 2028, 
with a total price for the project approaching $9M (2019 dollars). 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
This Resolution is required in order for the City Manager to sign an 
intergovernmental agreement.   
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
The Public Works Committee will have the opportunity to discuss the details of 
this project in its next regularly scheduled meeting. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
The total project cost is currently estimated at $702,835. Delaware County will 
be contributing $75,000 to the project.  The grant request will be $495,000.  
Submitting a complete application requires budgeting sufficient funding to cover 
the City’s contribution to the project, currently estimated at $207,835.   The 
current CIP shows the total allocation for this project as $700,000. 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
Delaware County has increased their standard grant match from $50,000 to 
$75,000 starting with this application. 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 



 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval   
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
OPWC Round 34 Exhibit 
West William Base Repair Exhibit 
Engineer’s Estimate 
 
 
 



 
RESOLUTION NO. 19-33 

 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO 
ENTER INTO A COOPERATION AGREEMENT WITH 
DELAWARE COUNTY FOR AN APPLICATION TO THE 
OHIO PUBLIC WORKS COMMISSION (OPWC) FOR THE 
PAVEMENT RESURFACING AND REHABILITATION OF 
BELLE AVENUE AND WEST WILLIAM STREET (ROUND 
34 APPLICATION). 
 

 WHEREAS, the County of Delaware provides financial assistance to political 
subdivisions applying for OPWC Grant funds for Capital Improvements to public 
infrastructure; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware seeks to improve highway safety for both 
vehicle and pedestrian traffic by replacing damaged, deteriorated and rutted 
pavement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the infrastructure improvement herein above described is 
considered to be a priority need for the community and is a qualified project under 
the County Cooperation Agreement Program. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 

 
 SECTION 1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to enter in to a 
Cooperative Agreement with Delaware County for a grant application not to exceed 
$75,000.00 for the City of Delaware for the pavement resurfacing and 
rehabilitation of Belle Avenue and West William Street. 

 
 SECTION 2.  That the City of Delaware agrees to be the designated lead 
agency, signing all required applications, agreements and correspondence.  

  
 SECTION 3.  That this resolution shall be in force and effect immediately 
upon its passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 









  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  10    DATE: 7/22/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-38    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE DECLARING THE IMPROVEMENT TO CERTAIN PARCELS IN 
THE CITY TO BE A PUBLIC PURPOSE AND EXEMPT FROM TAXATION 
PURSUANT TO ORC 5709.40(B); PROVIDING FOR THE COLLECTION AND 
DEPOSIT OF SERVICE PAYMENTS AND SPECIFYING THE PURPOSES FOR 
WHICH THOSE SERVICE PAYMENTS MAY BE EXPENDED; AND AUTHORIZING 
SCHOOL COMPENSATION PAYMENT. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
We are requesting Council to allow parcels in Exhibit A to be exempted from 
taxation through a Tax Increment Finance ordinance with service payments to 
be made by property owners in lieu of property taxes. Service payments equaling 
the amount of property taxes received by the schools if unabated would be 
distributed to the schools and an amount equal to non-school property taxes 
would be made to Delaware County Treasurer to be provided to the City of 
Delaware. These funds would be used for future necessary improvements to the 
Point Project or other related public infrastructure projects along SR36/37 on 
the east side of Delaware.  
 
This TIF follows all criteria set forth in attached ORDINANCE NO. 05-55 – an 
ordinance adopting the Tax Increment Financing (TIF) District principles for the 
City of Delaware:  

• The TIF proceeds are used for a public purpose i.e. needed improvements 
to The Point. 



• The boundaries of the proposed TIF will not impact future opportunities to 
utilize other parcels for further improvements. 

• The road improvements will be completed within the 30 years of the 
proposed TIF. 

• Improvements funded by the TIF benefit the entire community. 
• Improvements are accessible with sidewalks and ADA ramps. 
• This is a non-school TIF, and, therefore, does not negatively impact the 

school district. 
• Other agencies supported by property tax revenues were considered, but 

due to the nature of the TIF ONLY being for improvements and not for 
baseline tax values, the TIF revenues have little impact. 

• The City is the recipient of the TIF revenues and will be using them for 
public infrastructure projects, such as the The Point or East Central 
Corridor.  

 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Under ORC 5709.40(B) it is required to pass an ordinance, after proper required 
school notifications, to allow funds for parcels under Tax Increment Finance to 
be redistributed for necessary public improvements that would be needed for 
development project to move forward. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
FUND SOURCES: Service payments made in lieu of property taxes by property 
owners in the TIF. This non-school TIF should generate an estimated $42,429 
per year or an estimated $1,272,868.74 after 30 years. 
 
BUDGETED: N/A 
 
DEPARTMENTS IMPACTED: Economic Development, Public Works, Finance 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval after second reading 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
TIF School Notification Letters 
TIF Ordinance 



Exhibit A – Identification and Map of the Parcels 
Exhibit B – Public Infrastructure Improvements 



ORDINANCE NO. 19-38 
 

DECLARING THE IMPROVEMENT TO CERTAIN PARCELS IN 
THE CITY TO BE A PUBLIC PURPOSE AND EXEMPT FROM 
TAXATION PURSUANT TO ORC 5709.40(B); PROVIDING 
FOR THE COLLECTION AND DEPOSIT OF SERVICE 
PAYMENTS AND SPECIFYING THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH 
THOSE SERVICE PAYMENTS MAY BE EXPENDED; AND 
AUTHORIZING SCHOOL COMPENSATION PAYMENTS. 

 
WHEREAS, Ohio Revised Code (“ORC”) 5709.40, 5709.42, and 5709.43 

(collectively, the “TIF Act”) authorize this Council, by ordinance, to declare the 
improvement to parcels of real property located within the City to be a public 
purpose and exempt from taxation, require the owner of each parcel to make 
service payments in lieu of taxes, establish a municipal public improvement tax 
increment equivalent fund for the deposit of those service payments, and 
specify the purposes for which money in that fund will be expended; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City desires to implement a tax increment financing 

program on the Parcels (as defined in Section 1) pursuant to the TIF Act to 
enable the City to make public infrastructure improvements that will directly 
benefit the Parcels; and 

 
WHEREAS, notice of this proposed ordinance has been delivered to the 

Board of Education of the Delaware City School District (the “Delaware City 
School District”) and the Delaware Area Career Center (the “Delaware Area 
Career Center”) in accordance with and within the time periods prescribed in 
ORC 5709.40 and 5709.83; and 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by The Council of The City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio, that: 

 
SECTION 1. Parcels.  The real property subject to this ordinance is 

identified and depicted on Exhibit A (as currently or subsequently configured, 
the “Parcels”, with each individual parcel a “Parcel”).   

 
SECTION 2. Public Infrastructure Improvements.  This Council hereby 

designates the public infrastructure improvements described in Exhibit B (the 
“Public Infrastructure Improvements”) and any other public infrastructure 
improvements hereafter designated by ordinance as public infrastructure 
improvements made, to be made or in the process of being made by the City that 
directly benefit, or that once made will directly benefit, the Parcels.   

 
SECTION 3. Exemption.  This Council hereby finds and determines that 

100% of the increase in assessed value of each Parcel subsequent to the effective 
date of this ordinance (which increase in assessed value is hereinafter referred to 



- 2 - 

as the “Improvement” as defined in ORC 5709.40(A)) is hereby declared to be a 
public purpose and will be exempt from taxation for a period commencing on the 
date an Improvement to that Parcel first appears on the tax list and duplicate 
were it not for the exemption granted by this ordinance and ending on the earlier 
of (a) 30 years after such commencement or (b) the date on which the City can 
no longer require service payments in lieu of taxes, all in accordance with the 
requirements of the TIF Act.  .     

 
SECTION 4. Service Payments.  As provided in ORC 5709.42, the owner of 

each Parcel is hereby required to make service payments in lieu of taxes with 
respect to the Improvement allocable to each Parcel to the Delaware County 
Treasurer on or before the final dates for payment of real property taxes.  The 
service payments in lieu of taxes will be charged and collected in the same 
manner and in the same amount as the real property taxes that would have 
been charged and collected against that Improvement if it were not exempt from 
taxation pursuant to Section 3, including any penalties and interest (collectively, 
the “Service Payments”).  The Service Payments, and any other payments with 
respect to each Improvement that are received in connection with the reduction 
required by ORC 319.302, 321.24, 323.152 and 323.156, as the same may be 
amended from time to time, or any successor provisions thereto as the same 
may be amended from time to time (the “Property Tax Rollback Payments”), will 
be deposited and distributed in accordance with Section 6.  

 
SECTION 5. TIF Fund.  This Council establishes, pursuant to and in 

accordance with the provisions of ORC 5709.43, the Seattle House TIF 
Municipal Public Improvement Tax Increment Equivalent Fund (the “TIF 
Fund”), into which the Service Payments and Property Tax Rollback Payments 
collected with respect to the Parcels will be deposited.  The TIF Fund will be 
maintained in the custody of the City.  The City may use amounts deposited 
into the TIF Fund only for the purposes authorized in the TIF Act and this 
ordinance (as it may be amended).  The TIF Fund will remain in existence so 
long as the Service Payments and Property Tax Rollback Payments are collected 
and used for the aforesaid purposes, after which time the TIF Fund will be 
dissolved and any surplus funds remaining therein transferred to the City's 
General Fund, all in accordance with ORC 5709.43. 

  
SECTION 6. Distributions; Payment of Costs.  Pursuant to the TIF Act, the 

County Treasurer is requested to distribute the Service Payments and Property 
Tax Rollback Payments as follows: 
 

a. To each of the Delaware City School District and the Delaware Area 
Career Center an amount equal to the amount the school districts would 
otherwise receive as real property tax payments (including the applicable portion 
of any Property Tax Rollback Payments) derived from the Improvement to each 



- 3 - 

Parcel if the Improvement had not been exempt from taxation pursuant to this 
ordinance. 

 
b. To the City, all remaining amounts for further deposit into the TIF 

Fund for payment of costs of the Public Infrastructure Improvements, including, 
without limitation, debt charges on any notes or bonds issued to pay or 
reimburse finance costs or costs of those Public Infrastructure Improvements. 

 
All distributions required under this Section are requested to be made at 

the same time and in the same manner as real property tax distributions.  The 
City shall make any distributions to the extent not made by the County 
Treasurer. 

 
SECTION 7. Further Authorizations.  This Council hereby authorizes and 

directs the City Manager, the Director of Finance, the City Attorney, the 
Economic Development Coordinator, the Clerk of Council, or other appropriate 
officers of the City to deliver a copy of this ordinance to the Ohio Development 
Service Agency and to make such arrangements as are necessary and proper for 
collection of the Service Payments.  This Council further authorizes the City 
Manager, the Director of Finance, the City Attorney, the Economic 
Development Coordinator, the Clerk of Council, or other appropriate officers of 
the City to prepare and sign all agreements and instruments and to take any 
other actions as may be appropriate to implement this ordinance. 

 
SECTION 8. Open Meetings.  This Council finds and determines that all 

formal actions of this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating 
to the passage of this ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council 
or any of its committees, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its 
committees that resulted in those formal actions were in meetings open to the 
public, all in compliance with the law including ORC 121.22. 

 
SECTION 9. Effective Date.  This ordinance is effective on the earliest 

date permitted by law. 
 



- 4 - 

 
      
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION: YEAS _____ NAYS _____ 
 ABSTAIN _____ 
 
 
PASSED:________________________, 2019 YEAS _____ NAYS _____ 
 ABSTAIN _____ 
 
 
ATTEST:      
 CITY CLERK   MAYOR 
 
 
 

  



- 5 - 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 

 I, Elaine McCloskey, Council Clerk, City of Delaware, Ohio do herby certify 
the foregoing to be a true and correct copy of Ordinance No. 19-_____ as passed 
by Council of said City on the ___ day of __________ and as recorded in the Record 
of Proceedings of said Council. 
 
 

______________________________   
Elaine McCloskey, Council Clerk   

 
 

 
Filed with Mayor: ________     Published: __________



 

EXHIBIT A 
IDENTIFICATION AND MAP OF THE PARCELS 

 
The following map specifically identifies and depicts the Parcels (outlined in green) and 

constitutes part of this Exhibit A.   
 

 



B-1 

EXHIBIT B 
PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS 

 
The Public Infrastructure Improvements consist of any “public infrastructure 

improvement” defined under ORC 5709.40(A)(8) and that directly benefits the Parcels and 
specifically include, but are not limited to, any of the following improvements that will directly 
benefit the Parcels and all related costs of those permanent improvements (including, but not 
limited to, those costs listed in ORC 133.15(B)): 

 
• Roadways. Construction, reconstruction, extension, opening, improving, widening, 

grading, draining, curbing or changing of the lines and traffic patterns of roads, 
highways, streets, intersections, bridges (both roadway and pedestrian), sidewalks, 
bikeways, medians and viaducts accessible to and serving the public, and providing 
signage (including traffic signage and informational/promotional signage), lighting 
systems, signalization, and traffic controls, and all other appurtenances thereto, to the 
East William Street/East Central Avenue intersection and US 36/State Route 37. 

 
• Water/Sewer.  Construction, reconstruction or installation of public utility improvements 

(including any underground municipally owned utilities), storm and sanitary sewers 
(including necessary site grading therefore), water and fire protection systems, and all 
appurtenances thereto necessary or convenient for the improvements described in 
“Roadways” above. 
 

• Environmental/Health.  Implementation of environmental remediation measures 
necessary to enable the construction of the necessary or convenient for the improvements 
described in “Roadways” above . 

 
• Utilities.  Construction, reconstruction, burial or installation of gas, electric and 

communication service facilities and all appurtenances thereto  associated with 
improvements described in “Roadways” above. 

 
• Stormwater.  Construction, reconstruction, relocation, modification and installation of 

stormwater and flood remediation projects and facilities necessary or convenient for the 
improvements described in “Roadways” above, both for storm water quantity and quality, 
including the payment and reimbursement for such projects and facilities on private 
property when determined to be necessary for public health, safety and welfare. 

 
• Demolition.  Demolition necessary or convenient for the improvements described in 

“Roadways” above, including demolition on private property when determined to be 
necessary for public health, safety and welfare. 

 
• Parks.  Construction or reconstruction of one or more public parks and park or 

recreational facilities, including grading, trees and other park plantings, park accessories 
and related improvements, multi-use trails and bridges, together with all appurtenances 
thereto. 
 



B-2 

• Bikeways.  Construction, reconstruction, extension, improving, widening, or grading 
bikeways that are part of the City’s bikeway network. 

 
• Streetscape/Landscape.  Construction or installation of streetscape and landscape 

improvements including trees, tree grates, signage, curbs, sidewalks, scenic fencing, 
street and sidewalk lighting, trash receptacles, benches, newspaper racks, burial of 
overhead utility lines and related improvements, together with all appurtenances thereto, 
necessary or convenient for the roadway improvements described in “Roadways” above.  

 
• Real Estate.  Acquisition of real estate or interests in real estate (including easements) 

necessary to accomplish any of the foregoing improvements .  
 

• Professional Services.  Engineering, consulting, legal, administrative, and other 
professional services associated with the planning, design, acquisition, construction and 
installation of the foregoing improvements and real estate. 







ORDINANCE NO. 05-55 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE TAX-INCREMENT 
FINANCING (TIF) DISTRICT PRINCIPLES FOR THE 
CITY OF DELAWARE, AND DECLARING AN 
EMERGENCY I 

WHEREAS, the City of Delaware has established the tax-increment 
financing district principles, and 

NOW THEREFORE, Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 

SECTION 1 I That the Tax-Increment Financing District Principles 
(attached) be adopted. 

SECTION 2. Emergency Clause. That in order to provide for the usual 
daily operation of the various departments of the municipal government and to 
provide for the public peace, safety, health and welfare, this ordinance is 
hereby declared to be an  emergency measure and shall take effect and be in 
full force effective immediately upon its passage. 

VOTE ON RIJLES SUSPENSION: YEAST NAY+_ 
ABSTAIN & 

VOTE ON EMERGENCY CLAUSE: YEAST NAYSO 

,2005  YEAS^ NAYSO 

ABSTAINd- 

ABSTAIN= 
PASSED: 

ATTEST: 
MAYOR 



TAX-INCREMENT FINANCING DISTRICT PRINCIPLES 

Tax-Increment Financing (TIF) Districts will be considered by the City of 
Delaware case-by-case. Certain guiding principles will be observed in their 
consideration 

The Districts will be used to fund the city’s portion of an  infrastructure 
improvement and may be used to assist with private sector funding only under 
special circumstances. 

Generally, the City supports four types of TIF District-s: 
Those to support job creation/retention, 
Those to support the creation of affordable housing, 
Those to finance area-wide improvements in growth areas, and 
Those to finance improvements to enhance a proposed project. 

All categories 
The following principles will be used to evaluated TIF Districts in all categories: 

TIF proceeds will support only activities t-hat serve a public purposed. 
Boundaries of a TIF District must be carefully drawn so as not to affect 
TIF capacity in other nearby areas with future potential for TIF Districts. 
Improvements to be supported by TIF proceeds must be complete during 
the period in which TIF revenues are collected. 
Improvements funded by TIF proceeds should be accessible to and 
benefit the broader community in addition to specific developments. 
Public improvements funded by TIF proceeds must be publicly accessible 
by public streets with sidewalks and ADA ramps. 
TIF Districts will be structured to minimize effects on school districts. 
Other agencies supported by property tax revenues will also be 
considered. 
Consideration should be given to requiring that the party proposing the 
TIF District pay an  annual administrative fee to offset city administrative 
costs associated with TIF Districts. 

Job Creation 
In addition to the principles applied in all categories, the following principles 
will be used to evaluate TIF Districts proposed to support job 
creation reten tion: 

A TIF District may be warranted for projects with clearly quantifiable job 
creation and new income tax revenue. 
A TIF District may be warranted in cases where TIF and associated 
projects can serve as a stabilizing force leading to neighborhood job 
creation. 



A TIF District may be warranted where infrastructure costs are 
extraordinary due to unusually high site costs, project size, or extra 
impact on surrounding areas. 
Tax abatement should be discouraged when TIF is used. 

Affordable housing 
In addition to the principles applied in all categories, the following principles 
will be used to evaluate TIF Districts proposed to support the creation of 
affordable housing: 

For qualifying projects (perhaps those that qualify for other forms of city 
assistance such as housing assistance or tax abatement or other 
qualifying criteria), TIF proceeds may be used to support facilities or 
services that would otherwise be the developer's responsibility, such as 
requirements of the Thoroughfare Plan or parkland dedication ordinance, 
commitments made in a limitation text, development agreement, or other 
city requirements. 

Area wide improvements 
In addition to t.he principles applied in all categories, the following principles 
will be used to evaluate TIF Districts proposed to finance area wide 
improvements in growth areas: 

The project must be located in a Priority Growth Area (PGA) as 
recommended in the Comp Plan, or a supportable expansion of a 
designated PGA. 
TIF proceeds should support infrastructure needs of all types in the area 
including key roadways, parks, recreation facilities, safety facilities, 
particularly those endorsed by adopted area plans or other publicly 
adopted documents. 
Developers will continue to fund those roadway and facility requirements 
that are normally their responsibility, such as requirements of the 
Thoroughfare Plan or parkland dedication ordinance, commitments 
contained in a limitation text or development agreement, or other city 
requirements. 
When a TIF District is created in a growth area future development will 
be required to join existing TIF Districts or create new ones if the needed 
infrastructure identified in the plan remains inadequate. 

Project enhancements 
In addition to the principles applied in all categories, the following principles 
will be used to evaluate TIF Districts proposed to finance improvements to 
enhance the proposed project: 

TIF proceeds may be used to support roadways, facilities or services that 
would otherwise be the developer's responsibility, such as requirements 
of the Thoroughfare Plan or parkland dedication ordinance, 
commitments made in a limitation test, development agreement, or other 



city requirements. It is intended to apply a TIF in cases where 
extraordinary circumstances exist. This could include but not be limited 
to, the following factors: 

o Clean-up of brownfield site 
o Mitigate excessive costs of development where project would not 

happen unless assistance is provided. 
o Infrastructure costs are extraordinary due to unusually high site 

costs, project size, or extra impact on surrounding areas. 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  11    DATE: 07/22/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-39    RESOLUTION NO:  
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2019 APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE 
IN THE AMOUNT OF $10,000 AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO 
ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT TO PARTICIPATE IN A REGIONAL HOUSING 
STRATEGY.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
The City was invited by the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission to 
participate in a Regional Housing Strategy.  Please see attached background 
information about the initiative from William Murdock, Executive Director of 
MORPC and a supporting memo from Dave Efland, Planning and Community 
Development Director 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Legislation is required to establish the necessary funding to participate in the 
regional housing strategy as described.  
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
$10,000 Appropriation 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
William Murdock, MORPC, Executive Director and Kersten Carr, MORPC, 
Director of Planning and Sustainability Department will be present for any 
additional questions.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval after first or second reading 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Invitation Letter from MORPC 
Memo from Dave Efland 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 19-39 
 

AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2019 
APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$10,000 AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO 
ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT TO PARTICIPATE IN A 
REGIONAL HOUSING STRATEGY.  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware has been invited to participate in a 

Regional Housing Strategy; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mid-Oho Regional Planning Commission will be the lead 

on this project and has requested a financial contribution of $10,000 from the 
City; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City would be a part of the project’s advisory council; and 
 
WHEREAS, participation in this regional initiative can help inform the 

City’s Comprehensive Plan update.  
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1. That there is hereby appropriated from the unencumbered 
balance of the General Fund, $10,000 increasing the following account: 

 
General Administration/Professional Services: 

 (101-0032-5230)  $10,000 
 
SECTION 2. That the city manager is hereby authorized to enter into 

necessary agreements with MORPC.   
 
SECTION 3. This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION: YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 



 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 





 

1 | P a g e  
 

Central Ohio Housing Strategy Scope of Work 

The past decade has been one of historic growth for Central Ohio, and that growth is expected 
to continue for the foreseeable future, with MORPC projecting the region to be home to 3 million 
residents by 2050. Not only is the region growing; it is changing. Increases in both the young 
adult (Millennial) and 65 and older (Baby Boomer) populations are shifting housing preferences. 
Furthermore, the highly competitive real estate market and a persistently high poverty rate have 
led to more vulnerable groups struggling to find safe and decent housing in neighborhoods of 
choice. 
 
As a result, MORPC, the City of Columbus, and other project partners are coordinating a 
housing strategy for the region that develops investment and policy recommendations for 
communities to support mixed income neighborhoods and regional growth. The goal of the 
Project Partners is to foster a housing market where every household with a full-time wage 
earner can obtain housing in the private market, and to effectively supplement the market where 
we cannot achieve that goal. 
 
The scope of work includes the following:  

1. Existing Conditions 
Over the years, several studies conducted by various entities have arrived at the same 
conclusion: The 7-county Central Ohio lacks sufficient housing to meet the market demands 
of our growing population. This task will review and summarize these reports and augment 
where there are gaps in the analyses or outdated information. MORPC plans to lead this 
task with some consultant support. Please state if/how your team could support this work.  

a. Review and synthesize (where necessary) prior studies of the Columbus, Franklin 
County and Central Ohio housing markets. Prior work includes, but is not limited to, 
studies by Franklin County, the Affordable Housing Alliance of Central Ohio, the Building 
Industry Association of Central Ohio, the Rose Fellowship, and the City of Columbus 
Incentives Study. This will be a high-level literature review, resulting in a summary 
report. 

b. Identify data gaps necessary to develop regional recommendations. This may include 
quality of housing stock; location of housing compared to employment; subsidized & 
public housing data; more detailed cost burden analysis; racial inequity; and non-
housing affordability factors (e.g. transportation, energy, etc.) 

c. Identify structural impediments to housing development. This may include a permitting 
and zoning policy analysis as well as interviews/focus groups with developers to better 
understand impediments to both market-rate and affordable housing. 

d. Review and analyze current availability of public and private dollars to support affordable 
housing development.  

e. Compile a stand-alone report of existing conditions and projected needed housing by 
household income level through the year 2050 (summarizing tasks 1a through 1d).  

 

2. Investment Strategies & Policies 
With a deeper understanding of existing conditions in housing stock and the housing market, 
the region can take an inclusive and innovative approach to addressing any unmet needs. 
This task will explore novel and scalable methods to jumpstart regional housing 
development. In some cases, best practices from around the country may serve as 
replicable templates. In others, a new approach will be needed. This task will identify 
locations where investment strategies and policies have been most effective and summarize 



 

2 | P a g e  
 

the steps to implementation. A local assessment will determine where opportunities may 
exist to strengthen existing strategies. MORPC plans to assist with some of the research, 
but will rely on the consultant team’s expertise for this task.  

a. Research national policy and funding models that address inclusive, economically 
sustainable regional housing development. This includes identifying up to five (5) regions 
similar to Central Ohio’s housing market and economy to study as a best practice and 
preparing a summary of each. 

b. Research local and regional strategies around funding and regulations that address 
housing needs, either currently in place or under consideration. This would supplement 
any findings from task 1a. 

c. Identify innovative and scalable investment strategies that could help “move the market.”  
 

3. Recommendations 
To effectively move the needle on a regional housing strategy will require a comprehensive 
and multi-pronged approach involving the public, private, and philanthropic sectors. While 
new housing may be necessary to accommodate growth, so too will retrofitting and 
rehabilitating existing homes to serve current residents. In this task, specific 
recommendations addressing policy and regulations, finance, and cooperation will be 
proposed and prioritized – necessary steps to guide the region toward a shared vision. 
These recommendations should align with previous insight2050 findings for more compact, 
walkable environments and with the most recent insight2050 Corridor Concepts results 
around focused development along corridors served by transit. MORPC will rely heavily on 
consultant expertise for this task. In addition, these recommendations should be vetted with 
partners on an iterative basis rather than waiting for a report for partners to react to.     

a. Develop a housing investment allocation portfolio. This would include investment 
strategies for local governments and other partners, including non-profits, financial 
institutions, private entities, and the philanthropic sector, and highlight areas where 
additional funding streams need to be developed.  

b. Develop recommendations for regulatory policies for local governments.  
c. Develop housing priorities, including the development of new homes, rehabilitation of 

existing properties, and maintenance and retrofitting of homes.  
 

4. Tracking Progress 
Measurable indicators provide a quantifiable and objective approach to evaluation. The 
tasks outlined here will establish indicators, benchmark baseline conditions, and set targets 
for each indicator to help the region track its progress toward its stated goal of fostering a 
housing market where every household with a full-time wage earner can obtain housing. 
MORPC plans to lead this task to ensure sustainability and metrics tracking in the future. 
Please note if/how your team could support this work. 

a. Develop key metrics, and identify data, to monitor and gauge the on-going health of the 
housing market. There may be opportunities to customize metrics for individual 
communities on an add-on basis. Key metrics will be identified in tasks 1 and 2 and will 
be confirmed once recommendations have been developed. 

b. Establish targets to assist the City, counties, and suburban communities in achieving 
the recommendations. Key metrics will be identified in tasks 1 and 2 and will be 
confirmed once recommendations have been developed. 
 

 



 

3 | P a g e  
 

5. Community Engagement 
An advisory committee will be formed to guide the study and its recommendations. 
Stakeholders will be engaged throughout the process to lend expertise and to help 
communicate the complexities and nuances of the regional housing landscape. MORPC 
plans to lead this task. The consultant team is expected to support MORPC in facilitating the 
advisory committee, in stakeholder and resident engagement, and in developing the 
messaging around the project. 

a. Facilitate an advisory committee to help guide the plan development.  
b. Engage with stakeholders, including Franklin County, the MORPC Board of 

Commissioners, the Central Ohio Mayors and Managers Association, the Affordable 
Housing Alliance, the Building Industry Association, the Apartments Association, key 
financial institutions, Columbus Partnership, and others.  

c. Develop other engagement strategies as needed, including messaging and 
communications around the project.  
 

6. Final Report 
Visually appealing final Report to summarize all findings and deliverables, along with an 
executive summary that can be shared with non-technical audiences. The consultant team 
will lead this task with significant support from MORPC. 



 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 
TO: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 

FROM:  David M. Efland, AICP, Director of Planning & Community Development 

DATE:   07/02/2019 

RE: MORPC Regional Housing Strategy 

As requested, I am providing an opinion as to City involvement in the MORPC Regional 
Housing Strategy Study.  It is important for us to be an active part of this study.  As we 
examine these issues in our current Comprehensive Plan process, the timing is good and will 
help supplement the more local information we are generating in our process.  Importantly, 
being part of the MORPC Study will place housing within a regional context.  Additionally, my 
understanding is that MORPC and the City of Columbus are engaging in this process and for 
us to have an active seat at the table will help ensure that a truly regional view is represented, 
including data collection.  Our active participation may lead to solutions and possible 
financial incentives in the future to augment implementation if the City chooses to do so.  The 
City, via our Comprehensive Plan process, will still have the opportunity to consider any 
recommendations in a local context that may result from this regional study.  We can then 
decide if we wish to include any of the Study recommendations into our local planning and 
policy efforts.  Therefore, I would recommend that we participate and have a seat at the 
Study table if at all financially possible. 



FACT SHEET

AGENDA ITEM NO: `12 DATE: 07/22/2019 

ORDINANCE NO:  RESOLUTION NO: 19-34 

READING: FIRST  PUBLIC HEARING: NO 

TO: Mayor and Members of City Council 

FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 

VIA: Darren Shulman, City Attorney 

TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING NEGOTIATED CHANGES TO THE FRATERNAL 
ORDER OF POLICE (FOP) PATROL AND SUPERVISORS AGREEMENTS WITH 
THE CITY OF DELAWARE. 

BACKGROUND: 
The City and the FOP patrol and supervisors groups have reached a tentative 
agreement requires council approval to become effective.  The changes, 
attached to this item, can be summarized as follows:  The contract includes a 
3%, 3%, 3% wage package.  The move to step 2 in the pay plan has been 
adjusted to align with when the officer completes the Field Training Officer 
Program, which is when the officer starts working on his or her own.  In cases 
where an officer is hired without his or her certification, this would push the 
increase back by about four months.  In cases where an officer already has his 
or her certification, the raise would come sooner.  This additional cost is offset 
by the savings in not having to pay the officer’s salary while he or she is in the 
academy. 

The contract also includes some cleanup language, such as allowing an officer 
to use compensatory time for approved leave on a holiday, addressing what 
happens when an officer is subpoenaed on his/her vacation, and compensating 
an officer in charge at the third step of the supervisors rate, which aligns with 
longtime practice but not the contractual language. 



Finally the agreement continues the existing wellness program until 2021, 
unless a replacement program is agreed to before then. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
The contract includes a 3%, 3%, 3% wage package.   
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Revised Articles 



RESOLUTION NO. 19-34 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING NEGOTIATED CHANGES 
TO THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE (FOP) 
PATROL AND SUPERVISORS AGREEMENTS WITH 
THE CITY OF DELAWARE. 
 

WHEREAS, the existing contracts with the FOP patrol and supervisors 
units expired on June 25, 2019; and  

 
WHEREAS, adoption of the new negotiated contracts with the FOP 

employees, effective June 26, 2019, requires approval of a majority of City 
Council members and a majority of members of the FOP units; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 
SECTION 1.  The negotiated changes to the contracts between the City of 

Delaware and the Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) patrol and supervisors units 
are hereby accepted. 

 
SECTION 2.  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 

immediately after passage. 

 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019  YEAS____ NAYS____ 
       ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________        ________________________ 

CITY CLERK     MAYOR 
 
 
 



AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF DELAWARE 

AND THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE,  
OHIO LABOR COUNCIL, INC. 

ON BEHALF OF THE PATROL OFFICERS’ 
BARGAINING UNIT 

OF THE POLICE DEPARTMENT OF THE 
CITY OF DELAWARE 

EFFECTIVE DATES 
JUNE 26, 2019 - JUNE 25, 2022 



 9

ARTICLE 6 
 

DUES 
 
Section 1.  Labor Council Dues Deductions. 

The City agrees to deduct from the wages of any employee who is a member of the Labor 

Council, all Labor Council membership dues uniformly required.  The Labor Council will 

notify the City from time to time of the dues it charges and its current membership.  All 

members of the Bargaining Unit shall either become dues paying members of the F.O.P. 

Ohio Labor Council or, as a condition of continued employment, remit to the Labor 

Council a fair-share fee in amount set from time to time by the Labor Council in 

accordance with the provisions of O.R.C. 4117.09(C).  Said amount shall be deducted 

from all wages of all such non-members on the same basis as the deductions made for 

dues from members of the Labor Council.  Nothing in this section shall be construed to 

require any employee to become a member of the Labor Council.  The Labor Council 

agrees to save the City harmless in the event of any legal controversy with regard to the 

application of this provision.  All dues and fair-share fees collected shall be paid over by 

the employer once each month to the F.O.P. Ohio Labor Council at 222 E. Town Street, 

Columbus, Ohio 43215. 

Section 2.  F.O.P. Dues Deductions. 

The City will deduct from the  wages and turn over to the appropriate designated officer 

of the local Fraternal Order of Police, Delaware County Lodge, the regularly monthly 

F.O.P. dues of such member who shall individually and voluntarily certify in writing that 

they authorize such deduction.  This authorization shall be specifically in writing and will 

require the employee and the F.O.P. to agree to hold the City harmless for any payment 

made to the F.O.P. by the City during the term of this voluntary assignment.  The amount 

deducted from the employee's paycheck with regard to the local dues which are 



 10

voluntarily authorized shall be turned over to the F.O.P. Delaware County Lodge no later 

than thirty (30) days following such deduction. 

Section 3.  Other Deductions. 

The City further agrees to deduct from the pay of those employees authorizing such 

deduction, and turn over to the appropriate party, monies designated for purposes such as 

credit union, savings bonds, United Appeal, and similar causes in accordance with the 

City's current policy on payroll deductions.  These deductions shall be subject to the 

City's ability to maintain an efficient payroll procedure. 

Section 4.  Bulletin Boards. 

The F.O.P. shall be provided an F.O.P. bulletin board at Police headquarters.  F.O.P. 

bulletins and F.O.P. material only will be permitted to be posted on this board.  

Section 5.  Ballot Boxes. 

The F.O.P. shall be permitted, upon prior notification to the Chief of Police, to place a 

ballot box at Police headquarters up to four times per calendar year for the purpose of 

collecting members' ballots on all F.O.P. issues subject to ballot.  Such boxes shall be the 

property of the F.O.P. and neither the ballot boxes nor their contents shall be subject to 

the Department's review. 

Section 6.  Bargaining Unit Meetings. 

The F.O.P. shall be permitted, upon prior written request to the Chief of Police, to hold 

meetings, for F.O.P. members employed by the City of Delaware, at Police Headquarters 

or City Council Chambers.  The notification required under this Section shall be 

delivered to the Chief at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the time for the requested 

meeting and shall state the date, time, and requested location of the meeting.  The City 

agrees to allow the F.O.P. to use the requested location on the date and at the time 

specified in the F.O.P. request provided the location is not otherwise in use.  However,  

under no circumstances will F.O.P. use of these facilities be permitted to interfere with 



 11

the business of the City.  In the event that permission is granted at the time of the request 

and the requested facility, due to unexpected events arising during the 48-hour notice 

period, is needed for City business, then the permission will be revoked.  In the event the 

permission must be revoked, the City will, if possible, give the F.O.P. at least twelve (12) 

hours notice of the revocation.  If it is impossible to give twelve (12) hours notice, the 

City will give the F.O.P. as much notice as is possible. 

Section 7.  Use of Intra-Departmental Mails. 

The F.O.P. shall be permitted to utilize the intra-departmental mail boxes and email for 

the purpose of providing information pertaining to F.O.P. business or Bargaining Unit 

representation, to Bargaining Unit members.  The F.O.P. agrees that the use of the mail 

boxes and email will be reasonable and limited to providing information that is necessary 

for the normal conduct of F.O.P. business or Bargaining Unit representation.  The City 

reserves the right to deny such access in the event that the use of such boxes or email 

interferes with the business of the City or the Police Department by restricting access to 

such boxes or email for City or Police Department business.  All mail placed into the 

mail boxes by the F.O.P. shall be the property of the Bargaining Unit members to whom 

it is addressed, and such mail shall not be subjected to the City's review.  Email will be 

subject to current City policy and procedures. 

 



 17

 

ARTICLE 10 

CORRECTIVE ACTION AND RECORDS 

A. No bargaining unit member shall be removed, reduced in pay or position, 

suspended or reprimanded except for just cause.  Both parties further agree that 

records of Instruction and Cautioning and Written Reprimands are subject to the 

grievance process up to the City Manager level.  All other grievances are subject 

to the full grievance process. 

B. The City agrees to follow the principle of progressive corrective action.  The 

Chief of Police may skip any step of progressive action if the violations are of a 

very serious nature.  Further, the City agrees to fairly and equitably discipline 

members. 

C. Use of Prior Discipline. 

In assessing proper levels of discipline, the City will take into account the length 

of time since any previous discipline or offenses have occurred.  Records of 

instruction and cautioning will not be used as a basis for further discipline one (1) 

year or more after issuance, if no further discipline has occurred.  Records of 

written reprimand will not be used as a basis for further discipline two (2) years or 

more after issuance if no further discipline has occurred.  All other forms of 

discipline shall be removed from the personnel file upon a Member’s request 

three (3) years from the date of issuance if no further discipline has occurred.  

Providing there has been no intervening discipline, discipline records after the 1, 2 

or 3 year period shall be removed from the file and disposed of or maintained in 

accordance with the City’s public records retention schedule then in effect. 

D. Review of Personnel Files. 



 18

Any member shall be allowed, upon request, to review his personnel file. between 

8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.  Such request shall be made to 

the Chief of Police directly and review shall be made in the presence of the Chief 

or his designated representative.  Upon a third party request for a police officer’s 

file, the City will notify the Chief of Police or his/her designee, or the office of the 

Chief of Police, that such a request has been made.  The City will use reasonable 

efforts to make this contact before such release of requested information, 

however, both parties recognize this may not always be possible.  The City shall 

comply with all applicable laws on this subject.  The parties recognize that the 

City may be required to disclose information from a member's personnel file 

pursuant to State or Federal laws and current court decisions, and that such 

disclosure made pursuant to such laws does not constitute a violation of any 

provision of this Agreement.  The City also agrees that they will notify the 

member in writing of any such disclosures.  Any member may copy documents in 

his/her file. 

E. Performance Evaluations. 

 A member's signature on any performance evaluation, if any, shall be viewed by 

the parties hereto only as a representation that he has read it; it shall not be viewed 

as a representation that he concurred in any or all of the contents or comments 

thereon.  The member shall be the last person to sign an evaluation and no 

evaluation comments may be made on record copies thereafter.  The member 

shall receive a copy of the evaluation in its final form when he signs it. 

F. Inaccurate Documents. 

 Should any member have reason to believe that there are inaccuracies in 

documents contained in his file, he may write a memorandum to the Chief 

explaining the alleged inaccuracy.  If the Chief concurs with the member's 



 19

contention, he shall attach the member's memorandum to the document in the file 

and note thereon his concurrence with the memorandum's content and disposed in 

accordance with the City’s public records retention schedule then in effect.  A 

member shall have the right to attach a rebuttal or explanation statement to any 

document in his personnel file.  The official personnel file of all members is kept 

at the Department of Administrative Services.  



 28

ARTICLE 14 
 

WAGES 

 
Section 1.  Pay Ranges and Rates.  For the dates specified below, the new pay rates are 
effective for the pay period including the date.  The following pay rates, reflecting a 1.9 3% 
increase for 2017 2020, and a 2 3% increase for 2018 2021 and a 2 3% increase for 2019 2022 
will be paid members.  
 
 
 

Step 1  Step 2  Step 3  Step 4  Step 5 

Eff. 
1/1/2020  $28.72  $30.52  $32.70  $38.30  $40.02 

$59,737.60  $63,481.60  $68,016.00  $79,664.00  $83,241.60 

Eff. 
1/1/2021  $29.58  $31.43  $33.68  $39.44  $41.22 

$61,526.40  $65,374.40  $70,054.40  $82,035.20  $85,737.60 

Eff. 
1/1/2022  $30.47  $32.38  $34.69  $40.63  $42.45 

$63,377.60  $67,350.40  $72,155.20  $84,510.40  $88,296.00 

 
 
 
Section 2.  Pension “Pick-Up”. 

Effective on a date to be determined the City will no longer pick up (assume and pay) 
any portion of the employee contribution to the Police and Fire Pension Fund. 

 
 
 
Section 3.  Application of Hourly Rates 

The hourly rates as set forth under this section are based on a 40-hour workweek and 
shall be used to calculate salaries for hours actually worked or in paid status for the 
appropriate pay range and pay step. 



 29

 

 
 ARTICLE 15 

 PAY PLAN ADMINISTRATION 
 
Section 1. 

The police pay plan shall consist of five (5) individual steps within a single pay grade 

through which police officers shall move laterally (from Step One to Step Five) as 

depicted below: 

The Chief of Police and Department of Administrative Services shall determine the 

entrance level and minimum salary for each Police Officer. 

A. When a Police Officer is hired at Step 1, the following occurs: 

 Police Officers shall advance to Step Two (2) on the first day of the pay 

period following completion of the Field Training Officer (FTO) 

program six (6) months of continuous service at the Step One (1) level. 

 Police Officers shall advance to Step Three (3) on the first day of the pay 

period following successful completion of the probationary period.   

 Police Officers shall advance to Step Four (4) on the first day of the pay 

period following completion of one (1) year of continuous service at the 

Step Three (3) level. 

 Police Officers shall advance to Step Five (5) on the first day of the pay 

period following completion of one (1) year of continuous service at the 

Step Four (4) level. 

B. When a Police Officer is hired higher than Step 1, the following occurs: 

 Police Officers shall advance to the next scheduled step on the first day of 

the pay period following completion of their probationary period one 

(1) year of continuous service at the previous step level. 



 30

C. The date upon which Police Officers officially earns compensation shall 

constitute the Police Officers hire date and shall serve as the basis upon which any 

accrual of salary and/or benefits provided under this Agreement are calculated. 

D. Time off without pay shall delay any salary step increases by an equivalent 

amount of workdays involved.  The effective date of such return to regular paid 

status shall serve as the new basis for any accrual of salary and/or benefits. 

E. All salary rates provided by this Agreement are determined on the basis of regular 

full-time employment by the City.  All such salary benefits shall be paid bi-

weekly. 

F. Salary step advancements prescribed in this article shall occur automatically with 

regard to Police Officers. 

G. Members who are required to perform the duties of the Sergeant's classification 

will receive compensation for the time performing these duties at the step three 

(3) one (1) Sergeant's rate.  The additional compensation, over and above the top 

patrolman's rate, will be paid at the step three (3) one (1) Sergeant’s rate.  With 

respect to the second and third shifts, this provision shall apply automatically 

anytime a sergeant is not on duty. 

H. Members serving as a Field Training Officer (FTO) shall be paid one (1) hour of 

compensatory time for each work day served in said capacity. 

Section 2.  Specifications of the Pay Plan. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of Section 1 above, the rate of pay for members 

affected by personnel actions listed below shall be as follows:  

A. Disciplinary Demotion.  Whenever a member is demoted for disciplinary 

reasons, he shall be paid at the applicable step based on years of service. 



 31

B. Voluntary or Disability Demotion. 

(1) Whenever a member with regular full-time status requests and is granted a 

voluntary demotion, he shall be paid at the top step in the lower pay grade. 

(2)  Whenever a member with regular full-time status is given a demotion by 

reason of a service-connected disability, he shall be paid at the top step in the 

lower pay grade. 

(3) Whenever a member is terminated due to either a lack of work and/or funds in 

one classification and is entitled to an automatic demotion to a lower 

classification where he previously held regular full-time status, the rate of pay 

of the member shall be established as provided in (1) above. 

(4) Whenever a member is given a demotion due to a disability, his rate of pay 

shall be established as described in either (1) or (2) above, whichever is 

applicable. 

C. Reappointment.  Whenever a member is reappointed to a position where he 

previously held regular full-time status, his rate of pay shall be at the step and 

grade at which he was being paid at the time of his separation from that class with 

the approval of the Chief of Police. 

D. Re-employment.  Whenever a member is reemployed by the City, his rate of pay 

shall be at the step and grade at which he was being paid at the time of his 

separation from City employment, with the approval of the Chief of Police.  

      
 



 32

ARTICLE 16 
 

HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME 
  
Section 1.  Definition. 

The workweek shall consist of 40 hours per week (five 8-hour work days or four 10-hour 

work days) or a section 207(k) system authorized by the Fair Labor Standards Act. While 

the current (4-2) 207(k) system is in effect, two scheduled days off a year will be 

rescheduled as work days with the intent that these will be used by the City as training 

days.  In lieu of using two scheduled days off per year for training purposes, a member 

may be required to forfeit up to 16 hours of banked time on the last pay period of the 

year.  The City may change to a work week of five 8-hour work days or four 10-hour 

work days at its sole discretion.  If the City contemplates a change to a different 207(k) 

system, the City will meet and confer with the F.O.P. in an effort to reach agreement on 

the schedule.    Any change in the schedule will be made with three (3) months notice to 

members. 

 Absent emergency conditions requiring otherwise, days off shall always be consecutive 

days, though not necessarily in the same workweek.   The City will make every effort to 

insure each Member is able to take a thirty (30) minute lunch period while on duty, as 

calls for services and usual and emergency duties allow.  The City retains full discretion 

in this matter.  The salary and wage ranges prescribed in the pay plan for the respective 

positions are based upon a workweek of 40 hours and a work year of 2,080 hours  

Section 2.  Work Schedule. 

The City recognizes the benefit to be achieved from advanced notice of scheduling and, 

accordingly, agrees that, unless unusual circumstances prohibit, the work schedule for the 

bargaining unit members will be posted at least six (6) weeks prior to the implementation 

of the schedule.  Also, if changes in the posted work schedule become necessary, the 

effected members will be notified of such changes as far in advance as possible.   



 33

 

 

Section 3.  Overtime. 

Members shall be compensated at straight-time rates for all hours in paid status, except 

that all hours in paid status in excess of the hours of their regularly scheduled work day in 

any day shall be compensated for at a rate of time and one-half.  Payment shall be made 

for any overtime due at the time of separation from City service.   

Section 4.  Overtime Policy. 

It shall be the policy of the Administration to avoid overtime work except when 

absolutely necessary.  If overtime is worked without the advance authorization of the 

appropriate supervisor, except that in an emergency or an ongoing incident that extends 

past a Member’s shift such authorization may be granted subsequently, the member shall 

be subject to discipline up to and including termination. 

Section 5.   Report in Pay/Call in Pay/Court Pay.   

1. When a member is ordered or called to report for work outside of a regular scheduled 

shift, he shall be paid three (3) times his base hourly rate for the first hour and one and 

one-half (1 ½) times his base hourly rate for all other hours worked for which he is 

ordered or called to work (including off-duty court appearances).   

2. When a member is ordered or called to report for work, two (2) hours or less prior to the 

start of a regular scheduled shift, or within one-half (1/2) hour from the time he reports 

off duty he shall be paid one and one-half (1 ½) times his base hourly rate for all hours 

worked for which he is ordered or called to work (including off-duty court appearances): 

however only for off-duty court appearances prior to the start of a regularly scheduled 

shift, the member will be paid from when he reports to court up to and through the 

beginning of the start of his regularly scheduled shift.   



 34

3. When a member is subpoenaed for court on an approved vacation day, he shall 

inform his supervisor and the court within 48 hours of receiving the subpoena that 

he is not available that day.  The member will make a reasonable attempt to have 

the subpoena dismissed.  If the subpoena is not dismissed and the member is 

required to appear, the member shall be paid a minimum of three times his hourly 

rate for the first hour, and one and one half (1 ½) times his hourly rate for all 

subsequent hours required for the court appearance.  All vacation hours will be 

returned to the member’s vacation bank for the time actually spent for the court 

appearance during what would have been his regularly scheduled work hours.   

 

Section 6.  Compensatory Time Off or Cash Payments. 

All overtime earned shall be compensated for by cash payments unless the member elects 

to receive compensatory time off.  Such compensatory time off shall equal one and one-

half hours for each hour of overtime compensation to which the member is entitled.  No 

member may accumulate more than two hundred (200) hours of compensatory time.  Any 

member who reaches the maximum hourly limit shall thereafter be paid overtime 

compensation for overtime hours worked. 

Section 7.  Separation Payment for Compensatory Time. 

A.  A member who is to be separated from the service through discharge, resignation, 

retirement, or layoff, and who has unused compensatory time to his credit, shall be 

paid the cash value for such accrued compensatory time. 

B. When a member dies while in paid status, the cash value of any unused compensatory 

time, in addition to vacation leave pay to his credit, shall be paid to the surviving 

spouse or to the estate of the deceased member. 

C. A member may elect to cash in up to two (2) weeks of compensatory time and receive 

equivalent pay during any calendar year.  A member must inform the Chief of Police 



 35

prior to August 1 of the year preceding the calendar year in which he intends to make 

the trade. 

 

Section 8.  Exchange of Shifts/Duty Days. 

Members shall be permitted, with the approval of their immediate supervisors, to 

exchange a work day or shift assignment.  However, exchanges of workdays or shift 

assignments lasting two or more consecutive days shall require the approval of the Chief 

of Police or his designee. 

 

 

 

Section 9.  On-Call Pay. 

Effective January 1, 2005, all permanently assigned detectives shall receive an annual 

stipend of five hundred dollars ($500) for being subjected to the “on-call rotation.”  Said 

stipend shall be paid in two annual installments in the same manner as longevity pay. 

Section 10.  Yearly Time Change. 

A member shall be paid at overtime rate for the one extra hour actually worked on the 

hour of the fall time change to Eastern Standard Time.  The officer shall have one hour of 

straight time pay or other accumulated time subtracted from his/her leave balance if 

scheduled to work on the hour in spring when Daylight Savings Time takes effect. 

 



 39

ARTICLE 19 
 

CLOTHING AND EQUIPMENT ALLOWANCE 
 
Section 1.  Initial Issue. 

Upon appointment, each recruit shall receive a full issue of uniforms and equipment from 

the City.  All such purchases shall be made by the Delaware Police Department.   

Section 2.  Annual Allowance. 

All bargaining Unit members shall receive an annual uniform allowance in the amount of 

Six Hundred and Seventy Five Dollars ($675.00) per year for the calendar years 2017 and 

2018; and then Seven Hundred Dollars ($700.00) for calendar year 2019.  All such 

uniform purchases shall be made by the Delaware Police Department.   

Section 3.  Specialty Assignment Initial Issue 

 All bargaining unit members who are assigned to specialty positions as K-9 Officer, Bike 

Patrol Officer, or Delaware Tactical Unit member will be provided with two full uniforms upon 

assignment.   

Section 4.  Maintenance Allowance. 

All bargaining Unit members shall receive a maintenance allowance of four hundred 

($400.00) in January of each year.   

Section 5.  Lost or Damaged Uniforms and Equipment. 

The City will replace or repair any lost or damaged department property or equipment, 

including members' uniforms, provided the loss or damage is not the result of the 

members' intentional abuse or gross negligence. 

Section 6.  Damaged Eyeglasses. 

Eyeglasses which are lost or damaged while the bargaining unit member is engaged in the 

performance of their duties, not resulting from negligent action, shall be compensated for 

by the City at the current rate of replacement up to a limit of four hundred ($400) dollars.  

For an affected employee to afford themselves the benefit of this reimbursement, the 



 40

employee shall provide the employer a written explanation of the incident that gave cause 

for such loss or damage.  Upon receiving such signed report, the employer shall include 

the proper amount of funds to comply with the requested reimbursement in the 

employee’s next pay.  Such reimbursement shall be made no more than once in any 

twelve (12) month period. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 41

ARTICLE 20 
 

HOLIDAY PAY 
 
Section 1.  Holidays.  The following are designated as paid holidays for members: 
 
 New Year's Day    

Martin Luther King Day    
Lincoln’s Birthday    
Washington’s Birthday   
Memorial Day     
Independence Day    
Labor Day     
Little Brown Jug Day, ½ day   
Columbus Day    
Veteran’s Day     

 Thanksgiving Day    
Day after Thanksgiving   
Day before Christmas, ½ day   
Christmas Day     

 
Section 2.  Holiday Time Off. 

For each holiday observed on a member's workday, said member shall work that holiday 

unless the member requests and is granted the day off by the Chief of Police through the 

use of vacation leave, comp time or holiday leave.   

Section 3.  Holiday Payment. 

For each of the holidays specified in Section 1 of this article on which a member works, 

he shall be entitled to holiday compensation equal to double the member's regular rate of 

pay, except that members shall be entitled to holiday compensation at two and one-half 

times the member's rate of pay if they work on any of the following holidays:  New 

Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and 

Christmas Day. 

Members who do not work on a designated holiday, either because they are not scheduled 

to work that day or because they request and are granted vacation leave or holiday leave, 

will receive holiday compensation  of eight (8) hours pay at the member's regular hourly 

rate. 



 42

Holiday compensation will be a combination of cash payment and compensatory time off 

in accordance with the City's current practice on holiday compensation.   

Section 4.  Celebration Day for Holidays. 

For purposes of holidays, holiday time shall apply to the tour of duty beginning on the 

day which is celebrated as a holiday, except that for third shift personnel who work the 

night before the holiday, the tour of duty beginning the night before the holiday shall be 

considered the holiday tour. 

Section 5.  Holiday Time. 

Use of holiday time or personal days shall be at the member's discretion with the 

approval of the Chief of Police or designee.  In the event requests to use holiday or 

personal time off are submitted by more than one member for the same time period and 

otherwise approved by the Chief of Police or designee then the member with most 

seniority will be given priority if his request was submitted no less than twenty-eight (28) 

days before the requested time off.  Otherwise, conflicting requests will be prioritized for 

consideration on a first-come, first-served basis.   

Section 6.  Accumulation of Holiday Time. 

All members will be permitted to accumulate three (3) year's worth of holiday time.  A 

member’s current accumulation of personal days will not count towards this maximum 

accumulation level.  A member may elect to cash in up to one year's worth of holiday  

time each year.  If a member accumulates the maximum amount of time off allowable 

under this section, then future holiday will be paid in cash at the time it is earned.  The 

Department Head will post a notice in June informing members of the required deadline 

for selling holiday time and personal leave.  A member must inform the Department 

Head prior to August 1 of the year preceding the calendar year in which the member 

intends to make the trade. 

Section 7.  Separation for Holiday and Overtime Accumulation. 



 58

ARTICLE 26 
 

MILITARY LEAVE 
 
Section 1.  Military Leave. 
 

A. Paid Leave.   

Sworn officers of the Police Department who are members of the Ohio National 

Guard, U.S. Air Force Reserves, or the U.S. Army Reserves, U.S. Marine Corps 

Reserves, U.S. Coast Guard Reserves, or the U.S. Naval Reserves shall be granted 

military leave of absence with pay and shall not be required to use vacation leave 

when ordered to temporary active duty or when ordered to military training 

exercises conducted in the field for a period not to exceed twenty-one (21) 

calendar days in any one calendar  year.  of up to one month, for each federal 

fiscal year in which they are performing services in the uniformed services. 

(Federal fiscal year is October 1 – September 30. “Month” for purposes of 

this article means 176 hours.)  Excepting and providing that when the Chief 

Executive Officer of the State of Ohio or the Chief Executive Officer of the 

United States declares that a state of emergency exists, then in that event the 

member, if ordered to active duty for purposes of that emergency, shall be paid 

pursuant to this section for a period or periods, whether or not consecutive, not to 

exceed twenty-one (21) days in any one calendar year.  of up to one month, for 

each federal fiscal year in which they are performing services in the 

uniformed services. (Federal fiscal year is October 1 – September 30. 

“Month” for purposes of this article means 176 hours.)  A member shall be 

paid his regular salary for the period of time so served less whatever amount such 

member may receive as his military base pay.  Where it is to the advantage of the 

City and on the approval of the Chief of Police, military leave of up to fifteen (15) 

additional days may be granted.  



 59

B. Military Leave Without Pay.   

A member shall be granted a leave of absence without pay to serve in the Armed 

Forces of the United States of America or any branch thereof.  Members in a 

probationary period shall not be granted such leave.  Such leave of absence shall 

be governed by the following principles: 

(1) No eligible member shall lose his rank, grade, or seniority enjoyed 

at the time of his enlistment, induction, or call into the active 

services (other than for military training leave) of the Armed 

Forces of the United States of America or any branch thereof, 

except that a provisional member at the time of entering active 

military service shall not be entitled to restoration to his position if 

an eligible list from which appointments to such positions may be 

made has been established prior to his application for restoration to 

such position. 

(2) Any member who has entered the service as stated above, upon his 

Honorable Discharge or a Discharge with Honorable Conditions 

from the service and establishment of the fact that his physical and 

mental condition has not been impaired to the extent of rendering 

him incapable to perform the duties of the position, shall be 

returned to the position he held immediately prior to his enlistment 

or induction into the service or to a position of equal rank and 

grade.  Such member must request restoration to his position 

within ninety (90) days of receiving an Honorable Discharge or a 

Discharge with Honorable Conditions from the Armed Forces or 

his position will be declared vacant.  Nothing contained in this 



 60

section shall obligate the City to pay a member who is on military 

leave of absence. 

(3) Any member serving in a position vacated temporarily due to the 

previous incumbent being in the military service shall be 

determined to have been given a permanent appointment, if the 

returnee fails to exercise his restoration rights within the prescribed 

time. 

(4) The term "Armed Forces of the United States" as used in this 

section shall be deemed to include such services as designated by 

the Congress of the United States. 

(5) Any member transferred or advanced to a position by reason of 

vacancy caused by a member serving in the Armed Forces shall be 

returned to the position he held before said transfer or 

advancement, or to a position of equal rank or grade upon the 

return of the member from the service. 

(6) A member who achieves permanent status while filling a vacancy 

resulting from the enlistment or induction of a member into 

military service, upon the return of that member from the service, 

shall be placed on an eligible list in the order of his original 

position. 

(7) In any case where two or more members who are enlisted to be 

restored to a position left the same position in order to enter the 

Armed Forces, the member with the greatest seniority in that 

classification shall have the prior restoration right without 

prejudice to the reemployment rights of the other member or 

members to be restored. 



 61

(8) Where service in the Armed Forces results from induction or call 

to active duty, leave shall be granted for the duration of such call. 

 



 85

ARTICLE 35 
 

 
PHYSICAL FITNESS INCENTIVE 

 
SECTION 1:   
 
The Physical Fitness Incentive is a voluntary fitness program.  Successful participants will 
receive additional hours of vacation time as listed in the chart below for reaching certain 
levels of fitness.   
In order to promote fitness within the department, a set level of department participation 
will be required to earn an additional incentive.  Participation is defined as completing 
each of the segments of the test, based on the combined percentage of officers and 
supervisors.   In 2016, 40% of the membership must participate to qualify for the 
Participation Incentive, in 2017, 50% of the membership must participate, and in 2018, 
60% of the membership must participate with 30% of those taking the test achieving at 
least a basic fitness level.  Membership shall be determined based on staffing numbers as of 
January 1 of each year. 
Any hours awarded will be posted to the members’ accrued leave in the first full pay period 
of the following year.   
Fitness level Number of hours earned for 

achievement 
Number of hours earned w/ 
Participation Incentive met 

Basic 8 12 
Master 12 24 

 

 

Expiration: This article shall expire as of December 31, 2021 (2021 benefit to be credited in 

2022), with benefits being awarded according to the 2018 participation levels.  The parties 

will continue to negotiate a potential replacement program, which may be implemented 

prior to the end of the contract if both parties agree.   with the conclusion of this contract, 

unless renewed by both parties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 86

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ARTICLE 36 

 
DURATION OF AGREEMENT 

 
Section 1.  Duration.  All of the provisions of this Agreement become effective June 26, 2019 

unless otherwise specified.  This Agreement shall continue in force and effect until 11:59 p.m., 

June 25, 2022.  Either party shall give timely written or electronic notice in accordance with law 

of intent to modify or alter any or all of the provisions of this Agreement upon expiration of the 

Agreement. 

 
Section 2.   Signatures.   Signed and dated at Delaware, Ohio on this          day of 
 
                                              , 2019. 
 
For the City: For the Fraternal Order of Police 

Ohio Labor Council, Inc.: 
 
 
            
R. Thomas Homan    Paul Henry 
City Manager     FOP, O.L.C., Staff Representative 
 
 
            
Bruce Pijanowski    Derek Childs 
Chief of Police     Bargaining Committee Member 
 
 
            
Jessica Feller     Chris Cox 
Dept. of Admin. Services   Bargaining Committee Member 
  
  
          ______   
Darren Shulman                          John Laudeman   
City Attorney               Bargaining Committee Member 
                                                                       
      
       



 
 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF DELAWARE 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AND THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE,  
OHIO LABOR COUNCIL, INC. 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

ON BEHALF OF THE SUPERVISORS’ 
BARGAINING UNIT 

OF THE POLICE DEPARTMENT OF THE 
CITY OF DELAWARE 

 
 EFFECTIVE DATES 
 JUNE 26, 2019 - JUNE 25, 2022 



 7

ARTICLE 5 
 
 PROBATIONARY PERIOD 

SENIORITY 
 
The probationary period for all newly promoted employees will be a period of six (6) months 

from the date of promotion.  The City shall have the right to demote the employee during the six 

(6) month probationary period with no appeal rights through the grievance process. 

 Section 1.   

Seniority shall be defined as the length of total accumulated service with the Delaware 

Police Department as a sworn police officer.  Seniority in rank for supervisors shall be the 

date of promotion to each rank.  Work hours in appointed positions of Detective, School 

Resource Officer and Community Relations Officer are at the discretion of the Chief of 

Police.  Approved leaves of absence shall not be considered a break in service. 

 

Section 2. 

An employee’s seniority shall be terminated when one or more of the following occur: 

 a.  He/she resigns; 

 b.  He/she is discharged for just cause; 

 c.  He/she is laid off for a period exceeding the contract terms; 

 d.  He/she retires; 

 e.  He/she refused a recall or fails to report to work within five (5) working days  

 from the date the Employer sends the employee a recall notice by certified mail to 

 the employee’s last official address, as shown on the Employer’s records.  

 

Section 3:   

If two (2) or more employees are hired or appointed on the same date, their relative 

seniority shall be based on their position on the certified eligibility list from which they 

were hired. 



 8

 

Section 4:   

During the months of January and July of each year, the Employer shall post one (1) copy 

of the current seniority list for all employees within the bargaining unit and supply a copy 

to the F.O.P.  These lists shall be considered final and binding upon the Union and the 

employee, unless a notice of appeal is submitted through the Grievance Procedure within 

ten (10) days from the date of the posting of the seniority list.   

 

Section 5:   

The probationary period for all newly promoted employees will be a period of six (6) 

months from the date of promotion.  The City shall have the right to demote the employee 

during the six (6) month probationary period with no appeal rights through the grievance 

procedure. 

 

 



 28

ARTICLE 14 
 

WAGES 

Section 1.  Pay Ranges and Rates.  For the dates specified below, the new pay rates are 
effective for the pay period including the date.  The following pay rates, reflecting a 1.9 3% 
increase for 2017 2020, a 2 3% increase for 2018 2021, and a 2 3% increase for 2019 2022 will 
be paid members.  
 
Rank of Sergeant 
 

Step 1  Step 2  Step 3 

Eff. 
1/1/2020  $42.79  $44.40  $46.01 

$89,003.20  $92,352.00  $95,700.80 

Eff. 
1/1/2021  $44.07  $45.74  $47.39 

$91,665.60  $95,139.20  $98,571.20 

Eff. 
1/1/2022  $45.39  $47.11  $48.81 

$94,411.20  $97,988.80  $101,524.80 

 
 
Rank of Captain  
 

Step 1  Step 2  Step 3 

Eff. 
1/1/2020  $49.22  $51.07  $52.91 

$102,377.60  $106,225.60  $110,052.80 

Eff. 
1/1/2021  $50.70  $52.60  $54.50 

$105,456.00  $109,408.00  $113,360.00 

Eff. 
1/1/2022  $52.22  $54.18  $56.13 

$108,617.60  $112,694.40  $116,750.40 
 
Section 2.  Pension “Pick up” 

Effective on a date to be determined the City will no longer pick up (assume and pay) 
any portion of the employee contribution to the Police and Fire Pension Fund. 
 

Section 3.  Application of Hourly Rates 
 

The hourly rates as set forth under this section are based on a 40-hour workweek and 
shall be used to calculate salaries for hours actually worked or in paid status for the 
appropriate pay range and pay step. 
 

Section 4.   



 29

The wage differential for a Sergeant shall be at step 1, seven (7) percent above top patrol wage, 
at step 2, eleven percent above top patrol wage, and at step 3, fifteen (15) percent above the top 
patrol wage.  The wage differential between the captain’s wage and Sergeant’s wage shall be 
retained at fifteen (15) percent in each respective step. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 86

 
 
 

ARTICLE 36 
 

DURATION OF AGREEMENT 
 
Section 1.  Duration.  All of the provisions of this Agreement become effective June 26, 2019 

unless otherwise specified.  This Agreement shall continue in force and effect until 11:59 p.m., 

June 25, 2022.  Either party shall give timely written or electronic notice in accordance with law 

of intent to modify or alter any or all of the provisions of this Agreement upon expiration of the 

Agreement. 

 
Section 2.   Signatures.   Signed and dated at Delaware, Ohio on this          day of 
 
                                              , 2019. 
 
For the City: For the Fraternal Order of Police 

Ohio Labor Council, Inc.: 
 
 
            
R. Thomas Homan    Paul Henry 
City Manager     FOP, O.L.C., Staff Representative 
 
 
            
Bruce Pijanowski    Adam Willauer 
Police Department     Bargaining Committee Member 
 
 
            
Jessica Feller     Shawn Snead 
Dept. of Admin. Services   Bargaining Committee Member 
  
  
        
Darren Shulman                            
City Attorney                
                                                                       
      
       
 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  13    DATE: 7/22/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-43    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR STRONGHOLD CONSTRUCTION APPROVING A 
COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR 
STRONGHOLD INDUSTRIAL PARK LOCATED AT 1327 LONDON ROAD ON 
APPROXIMATELY 6.2 ACRES ZONED M-2 (GENERAL MANUFACTURING 
DISTRICT). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1129.05 Final Development Plan   
requirements of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 5-0-1 on July 17, 2019. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval at first City Council reading to advance the project 
for economic development reasons as submitted with the documented 
conditions. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 19-43 
 
AN ORDINANCE FOR STRONGHOLD CONSTRUCTION 
APPROVING A COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR STRONGHOLD INDUSTRIAL 
PARK LOCATED AT 1327 LONDON ROAD ON 
APPROXIMATELY 6.2 ACRES ZONED M-2 (GENERAL 
MANUFACTURING DISTRICT). 
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on July 17, 2019 
recommended approval of a Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan for 
Stronghold Construction for Stronghold Industrial Park located at 1327 London 
Road on approximately 6.2 acres zoned M-2 (General Manufacturing District) 
(2019-1389). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan 
for Stronghold Construction for Stronghold Industrial Park located at 1327 
London Road on approximately 6.2 acres zoned M-2 (General Manufacturing 
District), is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following 
conditions that: 
 
1. The applicant needs to obtain engineering approvals, including any storm 

water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the Engineering 
and Utilities Departments.  All comments regarding the layout and details 
of the project are preliminary and subject to modification or change based 
on the final technical review by the Engineering Department once a 
complete plan set is submitted for review. 

2. The curb cut and access drive on London Road shall be realigned per the 
City Engineer. 

3. The storage area laydown area shall be constructed of a dustless surface 
approved by the City Engineer.  

4. The owner shall construct a sidewalk along London Road or shall make a 
payment in lieu of constructing a sidewalk per the City Engineer prior to 
construction drawing approval. 

5. An emergency access drive with an easement agreement shall be provided 
from the Delaware County Data Bus parking lot to the east of the subject 
site per the Fire Department’s requirement. 

6. All building appurtenances (coping, downspouts, etc.) shall be painted to 
match the adjacent building color. 



7. The Applicant shall submit all building elevations along with material and 
color samples for all building materials for staff review and approval.  

8. The dumpster enclosure enclosures shall be constructed of brick or stone 
walls (quick brick or equivalent would be acceptable in this application) and 
have wood doors painted or stained to match. 

9. Any ground and building signage shall achieve compliance with the 
minimum zoning requirements and the adopted Gateways and Corridor 
Plan. 

10. The lighting plan shall be reviewed and approved by the Chief Building 
Official and all lighting must meet the requirements of the approved 
development text and the Planning & Zoning Code. 

11. A building and zoning permit shall not be issued until a copy of the 
permanent and temporary FAA determination is provided to the City and 
any conditions required by the FAA are met. 

12. The single family house is permitted as a legal non-conforming use but if 
the single family house is vacant for more than one year then the single 
family house use would be terminated per the zoning code. 

13. Any trees 6 inches in caliper inches or larger removed during construction 
shall be replaced per Chapter 1168 Tree Preservation  

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 































































































City Council Annual Ethics Review

July 22, 2019
Darren Shulman-  City Attorney



The City of Delaware

There are three sources of ethical 
considerations:

• Ohio Revised Code / United States Code
Criminal penalties

• City of Delaware Ethics Policy & Charter
Art. III, Sec. 11, Sec. 12 & Art. VIII, Sec. 52. 

• Appearance of Propriety
 Risk of loss of faith in elected officials 



The City of Delaware

Requests for political support
• Question: Can City Employees sign City Council member petitions to run for office?

• Answer: There is no law prohibiting signing petitions.  However, it can put employees 
in a difficult position to ask.  Our suggestion to council members is not to ask city 
employees to sign.

• Question: Can a City Council Member request  campaign help from a city employee?
– Help includes going door to door, putting up signs, giving endorsement

• Answer:  While it is not explicitly prohibited,  such help can present an appearance of 
impropriety as outlined by the ICMA Code of Ethics.  



The City of Delaware

Political Activity: Contributions
• Can City Council member solicit campaign donations from an 

employee?
• No.  Under ORC 3517.092 “No candidate for an elective office 

of a political subdivision of the state … shall solicit a 
contribution … from … an employee of that political 
subdivision … whose appointing authority will be the 
candidate, if elected.” However, a member may accept 
voluntary, unsolicited, contributions from employees. [R.C. 
3501.01(T), 3517.092]



The City of Delaware

• The Ohio Ethics Commission was created by the Ohio Ethics Law, enacted 
on January 1, 1974. The law can be found in R.C. 102, 2921.42, and 
2921.43. 

• The Ethics Commission oversees all state and local public employees, 
except legislative and judicial members. 

• The Ethics Commission’s duties are to: 
– Render advice to public officials to protect against conflicts. 
– Provide education and Information on ethics law prohibitions against conflicts 

of interest. 
– Administer financial disclosures from state, county, and city officeholders, 

candidates, and board members. 
– Conduct confidential investigation into allegations of unethical activity and 

secures remedial response. 
– Assists the General Assembly in the consideration of ethics-related legislation. 

Ohio’s Ethics Law



The City of Delaware

Potential Criminal Liability
• Ethics violations as a public employee can result in criminal prosecution.
• State examples:

– Interest in a Public Contract (R.C. 2921.42)
– Bribery (R.C. 2921.02)
– Theft in Office (R.C. 2921.01(K))
– Tampering with Records (R.C. 2913.42)

• Federal examples: 
– “Honest services” Fraud, Mail, and Wire Fraud (18 USC 1341, 1343). 
– Hobbs Act (18 USC 1951) (bribery / extortion)
– Making False Statements (18 USC 1001)



The City of Delaware

What is a conflict of interest?
• From the manual: “An actual or potential conflict of interest is when 

an employee is in a position to influence a decision or have business 
dealings on behalf of the City that might result in a personal gain for 
the employee, an employee’s relative(s), or business associate(s).” 

• Personal gains can result from situations where an employee, and 
employee’s relative(s), or business associate(s) receive a kickback, 
bribe, substantial gift, or special consideration because of a 
transaction or business dealing involving the City



The City of Delaware

Favors, Gifts, Gratuities, and Rewards
• From the manual: “No employee shall seek, receive, or give

any gratuity (in the form of compensation, entertainment, 
trips, gifts, favors, or otherwise) of “significant value” from or 
to those who have or seek business dealings or exchange 
services with the City of Delaware. It is expressly prohibited 
for any employee, in any way, to use their position or 
influence for private gain for themselves or others.

• This policy mirrors the Ohio Ethics Law. 
• Members are required to disclose sources of gifts in their 

annual disclosure forms. 



The City of Delaware

What is “Significant Value?”
• What are some 

examples of gifts 
that have a 
substantial 
value?

Lunch at J. Gumbos
Summer job for Son
Squeeze ball
Trip to Dayton
Ohio State tickets
Fancy Dinner
Signed Photo of Darren
Cell Phone Screen Cleaner
Cell Phone



The City of Delaware

Favors, Gifts, Gratuities, and Rewards
How much can you accept as a gift?
A) $25.00
B) $100
C) $1,000,000.00
D) It Depends/This Seems Like a Trick Question

The “Answer”:
• Ohio Revised  Code: Substantial Value = no hard line number

• Bob Evans Rule
• Ethics Policy: $75 cap
• Depending on who gives the gift, the right answer could be $0. 
• Cumulative throughout the year



The City of Delaware

“Improper Influence”
• RC 102.03(D) prohibits  members from using or authorizing the use 

of his office or employment to secure anything of value or the 
promise of anything of value that is of such a character as to 
manifest a substantial and improper influence upon him with 
respect to his duties.

• RC 102.03(E) prohibits members from soliciting or accepting 
anything of value that is of such character as to manifest a 
substantial and improper influence upon him with respect to his 
duties. Normal campaign contributions are excluded from this 
prohibition under RC 102.03(G). 

• City ethics policy prohibits members from soliciting or accepting 
honoraria (see R.C. 102.01(H) & R.C. 102.03(H))



The City of Delaware

Art. VIII, Sec. 52 of the City Charter. 
• “Neither Council nor any of its members or committees shall direct or request the 

appointment of any person to, or his/her removal or transfer from, office or 
employment by the City Manager or by any of his/her subordinates, or in any 
manner take part or interfere in the appointment, discipline, transfer, or removal 
of officers and employees in that part of the administrative service of the City for 
which the City Manager shall be responsible. No member of Council shall 
intercede for or participate as counsel or attorney for any officer or employee 
subordinate to the City Manager, in any hearing or investigation having to do with 
the discipline or removal of such officer or employee, except in hearings before 
Council. Except for purposes of inquiry, Council and its members shall deal with 
that portion of the service of the City for which the City Manager is responsible 
solely through the City Manager. Neither Council nor any member thereof shall 
give orders to any subordinate of the City Manager except as provided in Article 
XVIII, Section 89, either publicly or privately, either directly or indirectly.”

https://library.municode.com/oh/delaware/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CHTROFDEOH_ARTXVIIIDEFI_S89MOFISTOTRE


The City of Delaware

Gifts
• A gift can be accepted if it is clear that the gift is motivated by the 

giver’s family relationship or a personal friendship with you, rather 
than your position with the City. Per the Ohio Ethics Commission, 
relevant factors to consider are: 
– The duration and nature of the preexisting private relationship;
– Whether it has been common for you to exchange gifts before 

you were elected to City Council;
– Whether the giver personally bought the gift or bought it with 

business funds; and,
– Whether the giver has given similar gifts to other City 

employees. 



The City of Delaware

Holiday Gifts:  A Preview
Every year Darren sends out an “Ethics and the Holiday Season” 
email.  Here is an advanced preview:

– Do not accept cash or gifts.
– Legal can provide a ‘thanks but I can’t accept it’ letter.
– Exception 1: Food, candy, etc. Put out in common area to 

share.
– Exception 2: City (not individuals) can accept a gift that can 

be used by the City, such as office supplies, first aid kit.



The City of Delaware

Outside Employment
• City policy prohibits using “City of Delaware,” a Council 

member’s title, or the City logo in a manager that suggests 
impropriety, favoritism, or bias by the City or the member. 
This includes using  any of the above to obtain consulting 
work. 

• Example: “As a city councilman, I know how to get things 
approved by the City.  Hire me to be your consultant.”



The City of Delaware

Outside Employment – Ohio Ethics Law
It is illegal for a member to:

– Sell goods or services to the City, except through 
competitive bidding, unless they meet an exception to the 
law; and, 

– Use his or her position to get a public contract or payments 
from the city. 

– Have an interest in the profits of a public contract with the 
City (criminal charge under R.C. 2921.41)



The City of Delaware

Nepotism
• Nepotism is characterized by the Ohio Ethics Commission as the 

most commonly violated provision of the ethics laws. 
• Applies to any city employment, whether full-time, part-time, or 

temporary / seasonal. 
• The Ohio ethics laws do not prohibit family members of members 

from being employed by the City; However,
• It is illegal for a city employee to:

– Authorize the employment of a family member; or,
– Use the authority or influence of his or her public position to 

secure the employment of a family member. 
– A member requesting appointment of a family member would 

also run afoul of Art. VIII, Sec. 52 of the Charter.



The City of Delaware

Definition of “Family Member”
1. Spouse
2. Children / step-children (dependent or not)
3. Siblings 
4. Parents
5. Grandparents
6. Grandchildren
7. Any other person related by blood or marriage living in the 

same household. 



The City of Delaware

Definition of “Authorizing Employment”
• This means an employee is prohibited from making the final 

decision about whether a family member should be hired. 
• If an employee is the final hiring authority, their family 

members cannot be employed by the agency they supervise.
• Per our charter, the City Manager has hiring authority.  

However, the manager reports to city council, so Darren 
recommends not employing city council family members to 
err on the side of caution and to avoid the appearance of 
impropriety.



The City of Delaware

Definition of “Securing Employment”
Even though members do not have direct authority over the 
hiring process, the law prohibits them from discussing, 
recommending, or otherwise using the prestige of their office, 
formally or informally, to get a family member a job. 



The City of Delaware

Anti-Solicitation Policy

• Persons not employed by the City are not permitted to 
solicit any municipal employee at any time during the 
workday. 

• Employees are not to engage in solicitation on behalf of 
any cause or organization during work time. 

• Employees may not solicit other employees during work 
times (when either the staff member or the person being 
solicited is on work time). 



The City of Delaware

Anti-Solicitation Policy
• Any employee found to be soliciting or distributing 

literature in violation of this policy will be subject to 
progressive discipline up to and including discharge. 

• “Work time”- when an employee is scheduled and 
expected to be properly engaged in performing his or her 
work activities. 

• Work areas: all areas of any city facility with the 
exception of areas designated for non-work use (e.g. a
break room) 



The City of Delaware

Anti-Solicitation Policy
• Examples of prohibited activities during work time or in work areas:

– Raffles
– Charity drives
– Trips
– Sports pools
– Cosmetics/jewelry sales 
– Bake sales
– Food vending
– Procuring membership in any organization
– E-mail solicitation
– Commercial or personal business sales

• City sponsored events/activities are permitted (e.g. annual United Way 
campaign)



The City of Delaware

Financial Disclosure Statement 
Requirements

• Members are required to file a financial disclosure statement 
with the Ohio Ethics Commission by R.C. 102.022 due to 
their level of compensation (as well as the City ethics policy). 
These are not the same as campaign finance disclosures. 

• Disclosure statements must be filed no later than April 15 
(per our ethics policy, the ORC requires filing by May 15 of 
each year (R.C. 102.02(A)(4)), along with a $35.00 filing fee 
(R.C. 102.02(E)(2))

• Blank disclosure forms and e-filing are available on the Ohio 
Ethics Commission’s website. 



The City of Delaware

Disclosures Include: 
• Sources of income over $500.00 (per R.C. 102.022(A) due to council’s level of 

compensation); 
– This includes a brief description of the nature of the services for which the income was 

received, except where confidentiality is protected by law, i.e. clients of attorneys, 
psychologists, or physicians. It does not require a member whose income is from a “business 
or profession” to disclose every single item of income that constitutes the gross income of 
that business or profession; 

• Source and amount of income received from any person if the filer knows or has 
reason to know the person is doing or seeking to do business with filer’s public 
agency; 

• All sources of gifts over $500.00 (pursuant to R.C. 102.022 (B)) Gifts from most 
family members and inheritance is excluded from the reporting requirements; 

• All investments, debtors, and creditors over $1000; 
• Most ownership and leasehold interests in real property; 



The City of Delaware

Resources
• Darren, as City Attorney, is the city’s ethics officer. 

– Can give advice
– Can issue written opinions 
– Can contact ethics commission for advisory opinions
Ohio Ethics Commission Website: 
– www.ethics.ohio.gov
– Great resource for past opinions and info sheets.

http://www.ethics.ohio.gov/


The City of Delaware
Resources – formal and informal opinions by the Ohio 

Ethics Commission:
• Formal Advisory Opinions consider situations and hypothetical scenarios that may 

occur in a variety of jurisdictions and have a broad impact on many public officials 
and employees. A syllabus is included with the opinion providing a concise 
summary of the holding of the Commission. These opinions are reviewed and 
approved by the Commission.

• Informal Advisory Opinions, on the other hand, are based on a specific fact pattern 
and are issued to an individual person. These opinions do not typically have a 
broad impact on public officials and employees but do provide additional 
Commission precedent on various topics.

• Pursuant to R.C. 102.08(B), either type of opinion provides immunity from 
prosecution, civil lawsuits, and actions for removal from office or employment 
based on a violation of Ohio’s Ethics Laws if the facts in the opinion are true and 
the advice is followed. 



The City of Delaware

Ethics Reporting

• Contact the City Attorney to make an ethics complaint. 
• Can be anonymous
• Ohio Ethics Commission’s Investigative Attorney can be 

contacted directly at (614) 466-7090. 



TO: Members of City Council

FROM: Dean Stelzer, Finance Director

DATE: July 10, 2019

Reports Included

Page                     Reports                   Purpose

2 Revenues by Source This summary compares year-to-date revenues for 2019 to 2018 by source.

3  General Fund Summary of General Fund budgeted revenues, expenditures and fund 

  balance.

4 Other  Operating Funds Summary of budgeted revenues, expenditures, & fund balances for 

   non-general fund operating funds.

5 Other Funds Other non-operating funds revenues, expenditures and fund balance.

6 Insurance Summary of the City's self-funded health insurance costs with 

  comparisons to last year.

7 Income Tax Monthly income tax collections for last three years.  Also includes 

  tax collection projections for remainder of the year.

YTD 2019 Budget Supplementals

19-03 $150,000 - Donation Fund - Hayes Statue 

19-04 $28,000  -  CIP Fund Electric Parking System

19-15 $1,150,000 - CIP E. William St. Grant Project

19-16 $160,000 - CIP FUND Annex Improvements

19-17  $650,000 - General Fund Transfers to CIP and SMR

JUNE FINANCE REPORT



FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT
REVENUES BY SOURCE

June 30, 2019
Revenues Revenues  
@ 6/30/19 @ 6/30/18 % Change

TAXES
Income Tax 16,200,328$         15,351,050$         5.53%

 Property Tax 1,117,668             1,093,647             2.20%
Local Government Fund 311,594                296,841                4.97%
Hotel/Motel Tax 30,421                  38,939                  -21.88%
Gasoline Taxes 595,050                575,896                3.33%
License Plate Tax 338,704                339,601                -0.26%

 
FEES  

Franchise Fee (cable tv) 208,208$              202,464$              2.84%
Parking Meter & Lot Fees 44,336                  42,712                  3.80%
Fines/Forfeitures/Court Diversion Fees 65,685                  69,914                  -6.05%
Impact Fees 601,633                467,056                28.81%
Airport - Fuel 297,897                302,256                -1.44%
Cemetery 85,686                  69,629                  23.06%
Golf Course 81,258                  81,055                  0.25%

REIMBURSEMENTS
Engineering Fees 165,489$              726,058$              -77.21%
Fire/EMS Reimbursement 188,718                523,406                0.00%
Prosecutor Reimbursements 124,315                73,190                  69.85%
Building Permits and Fees 649,395                590,549                9.96%

UTILITY CHARGES  
Water  -  Meter Charges 2,655,068$           2,657,317$           -0.08%
           -  Capacity Fees 1,675,115             1,234,525             35.69%
Sewer  -  Meter Charges 3,197,132             3,147,674             1.57%
           -  Capacity Fees 1,610,492             1,182,273             36.22%
Refuse 1,769,972             1,727,443             2.46%
Storm Sewer 434,157                432,383                0.41%

 
MUNICIPAL COURT REVENUES 1,734,713$           1,687,428$           2.80%

 

2



FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT
GENERAL FUND REVENUES

June 30, 2019
June 50.00% of year Comparative

Revenues 2019 Revenues As Revenues % Change
6/30/2019 Budget % of Budget 6/30/2018 YTD

GENERAL FUND
Property Tax 855,424 1,629,406 52.50% 839,481 0.00%

City Income Tax 8,758,353 15,645,000 55.98% 8,301,157 5.51%

Other Taxes 997 0 0.00% 938 0.00%

Local Government Fund 311,594 618,976 50.34% 296,841 4.97%

Fines and Forfeitures 65,685 148,000 44.38% 69,914 (6.05%)

Engineering Fees 165,489 1,200,000 13.79% 726,058 (77.21%)

Prosecutor Contracts 124,315 285,000 43.62% 73,190 69.85%

Parking Meters 19,772 38,000 52.03% 18,892 4.66%

Other Fees and Contracts 22,020 0 0.00% 26,330 (16.37%)

Liquor Permits 40,906 45,000 90.90% 40,438 0.00%

Franchise Fees 208,208 405,000 51.41% 202,464 2.84%

Licenses & Permits 649,395 830,000 78.24% 590,549 9.96%

Investment Income 415,468 650,000 63.92% 201,095 106.60%

Miscellaneous 128,901 110,000 117.18% 37,588 0.00%

Reimbursements 95,645 200,000 47.82% 84,450 13.26%

Transfers 997,214 1,920,000 51.94% 966,733 3.15%

TOTAL 12,859,386 23,724,382 54.20% 12,476,118 3.07%

GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 
Comparative

Expenses 2019 Expenses As Expenses % Change
6/30/2019 Budget % of Budget 6/30/2018 YTD

GENERAL FUND
City Council 78,072 184,347 42.35% 72,803 7.24%

City Manager 342,918 823,711 41.63% 360,024 (4.75%)

Human Resources 206,064 358,692 57.45% 140,955 46.19%

Economic Development 232,685 474,137 49.08% 246,669 (5.67%)

Legal Affairs/Prosecution 365,517 842,343 43.39% 385,322 (5.14%)

Finance 690,286 1,485,683 46.46% 785,236 (12.09%)

Income Tax Refunds 341,812 450,000 75.96% 329,871 3.62%

General Administration 3,202,718 6,090,255 52.59% 2,570,521 24.59%

Risk Management 18,123 349,100 5.19% 32,685 (44.55%)

Police 4,049,207 9,105,357 44.47% 4,161,601 (2.70%)

Planning 533,151 1,268,512 42.03% 563,588 (5.40%)

Engineering 712,245 1,988,887 35.81% 777,568 (8.40%)

City Buildings 244,834 554,958 44.12% 242,408 1.00%

TOTAL 11,017,632 23,975,982 45.95% 10,669,251 3.27%

General Fund Beginning Balance January 1, 2019 5,184,249           

 2019 General Fund Revenues 12,859,386       

 2019 General Fund Expenditures (11,017,632)      

 Advances to Other Funds 1,236,286          

 Outstanding Encumbrances 5/31/19 (907,017)            

General Fund Ending Fund Balance May 31, 2019 7,355,272         

3



FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT
OTHER OPERATING FUNDs

June 30, 2019
 

REVENUES
Comparative

Revenues 2019 Revenues As Revenues % Change
6/30/2019 Budget % of Budget 6/30/2018 YTD

STREET MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 1,594,744 3,231,000 49.36% 1,475,256 8.10%

STORM SEWER 435,072 863,000 50.41% 241,256 80.34%

PARKS AND RECREATION 900,498 1,571,500 57.30% 619,237 45.42%

CEMETERY 135,686 256,000 53.00% 118,925 14.09%

AIRPORT OPERATIONS 405,013 924,840 43.79% 384,049 5.46%

FIRE/EMS INCOME TAX 6,454,732 11,866,361 54.40% 5,036,672 28.15%

MUNICIPAL COURT 1,248,678 2,744,000 45.51% 1,274,279 (2.01%)

GOLF COURSE 81,258 183,500 44.28% 80,606 0.81%

WATER 2,875,093 6,536,132 43.99% 3,144,081 (8.56%)

SEWER 3,460,522 7,407,971 46.71% 3,289,915 5.19%

REFUSE 1,819,880 3,672,095 49.56% 3,092,715 (41.16%)

GARAGE ROTARY 359,300 718,600 50.00% 315,101 14.03%

INFORMATION TECH. ROTARY 538,116 1,076,017 50.01% 491,214 9.55%

TOTAL 20,308,592 41,051,016 49.47% 19,563,306 3.81%

 

 EXPENDITURES
Comparative

Expenditures 2019 Expenses As Expenses % Change
6/30/2019 Budget % of Budget 6/30/2018 YTD

STREET MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 1,430,846 3,313,335 43.18% 516,178 177.20%

STORM SEWER 305,533 1,380,464 22.13% 1,482,843 (79.40%)

PARKS AND RECREATION 664,447 1,592,532 41.72% 295,953 124.51%

CEMETERY 110,782 315,113 35.16% 297,627 (62.78%)

AIRPORT OPERATIONS 483,806 974,226 49.66% 271,973 77.89%

FIRE/EMS INCOME TAX 5,643,677 11,182,079 50.47% 10,568,832 (46.60%)

MUNICIPAL COURT 1,221,245 2,734,190 44.67% 2,441,281 (49.98%)

GOLF COURSE 46,132 183,401 25.15% 68,498 (32.65%)

WATER OPERATIONS 2,986,153 6,336,213 47.13% 1,230,846 142.61%

SEWER OPERATIONS 3,385,293 7,075,047 47.85% 2,657,780 27.37%

REFUSE 1,490,974 3,813,216 39.10% 2,391,565 (37.66%)

GARAGE ROTARY 306,452 707,989 43.28% 340,629 (10.03%)

INFORMATION TECH. ROTARY 603,676 1,384,166 43.61% 724,385 (16.66%)

TOTAL 18,679,016 40,991,971 45.57% 23,288,390 (19.79%)

 

FUND BALANCES
Fund Fund

Balance Revenues Expenditures Outstanding Balance
1/1/2019 6/30/2019 6/30/2019 Encumb. 6/30/2019

STREET MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 461,581 1,594,744 1,430,846 262,803 362,676

STORM SEWER 1,868,735 435,072 305,533 179,248 1,819,026

PARKS AND RECREATION 218,433 900,498 664,447 195,806 258,678

CEMETERY 265,769 135,686 110,782 2,788 287,885

AIRPORT OPERATIONS 272,195 405,013 483,806 55,303 138,099

FIRE/EMS INCOME TAX 9,031,814 6,454,732 5,643,677 195,098 9,647,771

MUNICIPAL COURT 2,744,978 1,248,678 1,221,245 12,674 2,759,737

GOLF COURSE 39,762 81,258 46,132 16,863 58,025

WATER OPERATIONS 1,219,585 2,875,093 2,986,153 161,449 947,076

SEWER OPERATIONS 3,134,518 3,460,522 3,385,293 154,502 3,055,245

REFUSE 909,634 1,819,880 1,490,974 771,106 467,434

GARAGE ROTARY 385,951 359,300 306,452 45,376 393,423

INFORMATION TECH. ROTARY 864,189 538,116 603,676 54,612 744,017

TOTAL 21,417,144 20,308,592 18,679,016 2,107,628 20,939,0924



FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT
OTHER FUND REVENUES/EXPENSES/FUND BALANCE

June 30, 2019
Beginning Ending

Fund Revenues Expenses Outstanding Fund
Balance 6/30/2019 6/30/2019 Encumbrances Balance

STATE HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENT 219,665 56,363 3,236 260 272,532

LICENSE FEE 238,083 219,107 51,546 0 405,644

TREE FUND 156,124 8,287 50,924 0 113,487

AIRPORT 2000 T-HANGAR 173,352 50,791 35,695 0 188,448

RECREATION FACILITIES TAX 4,583,228 1,363,085 794,617 235,000 4,916,696

AIRPORT TIF 109,485 13,626 0 0 123,111

GLENN RD BRIDGE TIF 2,878,284 508,950 1,376,003 136,623 1,874,608

SKY CLIMBER/V&P TIF 0 24,151 24,151 45,849 (45,849)

MILL RUN TIF 0 84,041 84,041 85,959 (85,959)

COURT IDIAM 30,321 16,550 23,860 7,188 15,823

DRUG ENFORCEMENT 57,260 2,765 14,239 3,692 42,094

COURT ALCOHOL TREATMENT 546,244 30,129 14,089 0 562,284

OMVI ENFORCEMENT/EDUCATION 6,468 1,250 3,471 0 4,247

POLICE JUDGEMENT 121,012 11,491 24,000 12,936 95,567

PARK DEVELOPMENT 184,116 0 0 0 184,116

COMPUTER LEGAL RESEARCH 714,293 133,700 41,679 74,224 732,090

COURT SPECIAL PROJECTS 752,409 135,666 33,552 6,224 848,299

PROBATION SERVICES 572,555 165,975 19,487 28,691 690,352

POLICE/FIRE DISABILITY 0 262,244 262,244 0 0

COMMUNITY PROMOTION FUND 69,220 30,421 58,524 54,500 (13,383)

CDBG GRANT 2,530 0 8,661 120,500 (126,631)

ED REVOLVING LOAN 270,186 53,890 81,337 55,874 186,865

HOUSING GRANT PROGRAM INCOME 0 8,150 0 0 8,150

CHIP GRANT 0 0 0 0 0

GENERAL BOND RETIREMENT 336,521 635,749 632,295 0 339,975

PARK IMPROV BONDS FUND 111,273 663,997 357,701 0 417,569

SE HIGHLAND SEWER BOND FUND 83,995 501,152 278,304 0 306,843

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 2,037,627 1,747,743 1,502,265 1,868,164 414,941

POINT PROJECT 565,337 157,958 101,010 832,072 (209,787)

FAA AIRPORT GRANT 48,413 0 0 0 48,413

FAA AIRPORT AIP GRANT 47,948 0 0 81,360 (33,412)

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT 158,550 250,000 99,644 299,208 9,698

PARK IMPACT FEE 1,455,146 275,317 60,653 112,852 1,556,958

POLICE IMPACT FEE 354,038 68,208 7,813 165 414,268

FIRE IMPACT FEE 397,705 119,481 79,954 169 437,063

MUNICIPAL SERVICES IMPACT FEE 361,999 138,627 68,319 102,736 329,571

GLENN ROAD CONSTRUCTION FUNDS 3,112,362 8,621,735 10,421,158 36,095 1,276,844

PARKING LOTS 45,944 24,564 20,690 13,500 36,318

WATER CIP 12,555,562 2,636,923 2,337,492 517,412 12,337,581

SEWER CIP 8,821,116 3,463,787 2,844,199 423,720 9,016,984

SELF INSURANCE 1,508,194 3,100,484 3,220,284 3,500 1,384,894

WORKERS COMP RESERVE 2,628,786 128,851 235,658 17,231 2,504,748

FIRE DONATION 6,345 0 5,462 0 883

PARK DONATION 16,410 47,984 47,700 9,600 7,094

POLICE DONATION 7,809 0 182 0 7,627

MAYOR'S DONATION 1,202 750 751 261 940

PROJECT TRUST 693,554 25,394 0 0 718,948

UNCLAIMED FUNDS 85,371 14,602 614 0 99,359

DEVELOPMENT RESERVE FUND 964,886 0 0 0 964,886

RESERVE ACCOUNT FUND 1,163,864 0 0 0 1,163,864

BERKSHIRE JEDD FUND 57,099 214,295 194,962 310,332 (233,900)

CEMETERY PERPETUAL CARE FUND 34,191 350 690 0 33,851

STATE PATROL TRANSFER 9,699 28,431 38,131 0 (1)

STATE BUILDING PERMIT FEES 466 7,458 5,509 0 2,415
PERFORMANCE BOND FUND 667,238 294,415 20,931 3,513 937,209

TOTAL 50,023,485 26,348,887 25,587,727 5,499,410 45,285,235

5



City of Delaware
      Employee Health Insurance Plan

 June 30, 2019
 

June YTD 2019 % of YTD % Change
Account 2019 2019 Budget Budget 2018 2018-19

Life Insurance 2,125$            12,708$          27,000$          47.1% 4,576$            177.7%

 

Insurance Opt-Out 2,195               13,170            30,500            43.2% 13,470            -2.2%

Preventative Care 1,129               12,179            55,000            22.1% 17,876            -31.9%

Vision Coverage -                   12,266            28,500            43.0% 19,823            0.0%

Administrative Fees

Excise Tax 1,940               2,891               5,000               0.0% 939                  0.0%

 TPA Fees 7,506               48,598            99,500            48.8% 46,831            3.8%

 PPO Fees 3,105               18,860            40,000            47.2% 18,288            3.1%
 Broker Fees 416                  3,926               6,500               60.4% 2,990               0.0%

  Total Admin 12,967            74,275            151,000          49.2% 69,048            7.6%
 

Stop Loss Insurance 70,104            424,837          795,000          53.4% 370,489          14.7%

Claims   

 Medical 243,171          1,931,810       4,250,000       45.5% 1,852,031       4.3%

 Dental 21,753            133,312          285,000          46.8% 127,637          4.4%
 Prescription 132,101          605,727          850,000          71.3% 396,605          52.7%

  Total Claims 397,025          2,670,849       5,385,000       49.6% 2,376,273       12.4%

Total Costs 485,545          3,220,284       6,472,000       49.8% 2,871,555       12.1%

Employee Payment 77,568            486,895          893,568          54.5% 457,553          

Reimbursements 1,109               254,120          500,000          50.8% 162,721           

NET PLAN COSTS 406,868$        2,479,269$    5,078,432$    48.8% 2,251,281$    10.1%

6



MONTHLY INCOME TAX REVENUES 
2017-2019

 
 2017    2018    2019   

% OF % OF % OF

W/H PERSONAL BUSINESS TOTAL ACTUAL W/H PERSONAL BUSINESS TOTAL ACTUAL W/H PERSONAL BUSINESS TOTAL BUDGET
               

JANUARY 1,794,272 205,680 204,662 2,204,614 1,741,914 440,952 56,565 2,239,431 1,570,681 603,605 80,207 2,254,493

FEBRUARY 1,304,987 327,145 95,437 1,727,569 1,389,048 337,974 56,041 1,783,063 1,616,403 398,566 112,062 2,127,031

MARCH 1,175,241 625,299 195,522 1,996,062 1,240,476 682,589 192,027 2,115,092 1,308,699 737,799 133,499 2,179,997

APRIL 1,786,686 2,352,889 1,092,340 5,231,915 1,949,558 2,433,093 806,548 5,189,199 1,941,656 2,595,734 781,735 5,319,125

MAY 1,388,195     185,269        50,869           1,624,333 1,387,867     213,714        18,117           1,619,698 1,440,447 242,575 54,049 1,737,071

JUNE 1,284,197     481,309        167,392         1,932,898 1,407,521     622,838        374,208         2,404,567 1,696,517 732,504 153,590 2,582,611

SUBTOTAL 8,733,578 4,177,591 1,806,222 14,717,391 56.83% 9,116,384 4,731,160 1,503,506 15,351,050 55.16% 9,574,403 5,310,783 1,315,142 16,200,328 55.98%

JULY 1,680,268 158,901 62,961 1,902,130 1,718,647 227,721 28,964 1,975,332

AUGUST 1,395,822 124,025 26,462 1,546,309 1,363,624 171,517 142,149 1,677,290

SEPTEMBER 1,303,188 421,650 287,996 2,012,834 1,648,825 624,312 164,383 2,437,520

OCTOBER 1,697,249     257,687        81,440           2,036,376 1,675,716     307,591        462,819         2,446,126

NOVEMBER 1,438,751     175,718        30,847           1,645,316 1,442,983     252,947        59,435           1,755,365

DECEMBER 1,419,960 388,069 229,805 2,037,834 1,688,530 412,229 85,907 2,186,666  

   

  TOTALS 17,668,816 5,703,641 2,525,732 25,898,189 97.31% 18,654,709 6,727,477 2,447,163 27,829,349 101.43% 9,574,403 5,310,783 1,315,142 16,200,328 55.98%

   

  BUDGETED 26,614,811 27,437,537 28,936,941

Total JUNE  % of Annual Projection based on ten year trend!  

7



City Manager Report 20190722 
 

 
 
 
 
TO:  Mayor Riggle and Members of Council 
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Miscellaneous Matters 
 
DATE: July 18, 2019 
 
 
1. Calendar 
 See Attached 
 
2. Per Section 73 Of The City Charter The City Manager Is To Report 

Contract Agreements 
 See Attached 
 
3. Meetings 
  
 June 28 
  Meeting with Mike Frommer 
 July 8 
  Rotary 
  City Council 
 July 9 
  Source Point Age Friendly Strong Town 
  



CONTRACT APPROVAL – July 22, 2019 
 

VENDOR 
 

EXPLANATION OF AGREEMENT 
2019 

AMOUNT 
 

DEPARTMENT 
State of Ohio ODNR, Div of Wildlife Subsidy agreement #2 for Fish with a 

Cop 
N/A Police 

Delaware County Emergency 
Communications 

Agreement to allow Delaware County 
Emergency Communications to enter 
LEADS and NCIC data 

N/A Police 

The Shelly Company Stone and asphalt for base repairs N/A Public Works 
MS Consultants East Central Engineering Report and 

Safety Application 
$28,520 Public Works 

Delaware County Sheriff’s Office Delaware County LEAP $0.00 Police 
State of Ohio Depart of Defense property transferred 

to city of Delaware Police Department 
$0.00 Police 

State of Ohio, ODNR, Div of Wildlife Subsidy agreement#1 for Fish with a 
Cop 

$0.00 Police 

The Aero-Mark Company, LLC 2019 Pavement Marking Maintenance $55,270.69 Public Works 
National Lime and Stone Stone for base repair work N/A Public Works 
Gannett Flemming Engineers & 
Architects 

The Point Improvements, Part 1, Mod 1 $1,231,630 Public Works 

MT Business Technologies Copier VIT Maintenance Protection Cost per use IT 
Ohio Wesleyan University Emergency Medical Services $116.20 Fire 
 



July 
 

 2019 
  

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
 1 2 3 4 5 6 

    City Offices Closed   

7 8 9 10 11 12 13 
 7pm City Council  6pm Sister City 6:30 pm BZA    

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 
  6:30 Parks & Rec – 

cancelled 
6:30 Planning 6:30 Airport 

Commission-cancelled 
  

21 22 23 24 25 26 27 
 7 pm City Council  6:30 pm HPC 2:00 pm Delaware South 

NCA  
  

28 29 30 31    
       

       
       

 



August 
 

 2019 
  

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
    1 2 3 

       

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
  Public Works/Public 

Utilities 6 pm 
Civil Service 3 pm 
Planning Commission 
6:30 pm 

   

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 
 Council 7pm  BZA 6:30 pm    

18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
 Parking and Safety 6 pm      

25 26 27 28 29 30 31 
 Council 7pm Shade Tree 6:30pm Historic Preservation 

Commission 6:30 pm 
   

       
       

 


	01 20190722 council agenda
	CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

	02 20190708 council minutes
	03 20190410 bza minutes
	04 20190605 planning minutes
	05 Fact Sheet Res 19-32, OPWC Rd 34
	06 Res 19-32,OPWC Rd 34 Application
	07 OPWC RD 34 Resolution Attach
	08 Fact Sheet Res 19-33, County Coop Agmt OPWC 34
	09 Res 19-33, OPWC Rd 34 County Agmt
	10 OPWC RD 34 Resolution Attach
	12 fact sheet ord 19-38 seattle house TIF_edited_7_3_19
	13 ord 19-38, TIF Ordinance (Seattle House .40(B)) DARREN REVISED EXHIBIT B
	14 DACC TIF Notifications Signed_Seattle House
	15 DCS Seattle House Acknowledgement
	16 ord 05-55 adopt principles
	17 Fact Sheet ord 19-39 , MORPC Housing Strategy Study
	18 ord 19-39, MORPC Housing Strategy study
	19 2019City_of_Delaware_Regional_Housing_Strategy
	20 MORPC Regional Housing Strategy Study_7_2_19
	21 fact sheet res 19-34, fop contract
	21 res 19-34, fop contract
	22 FOP Patrol Contract 2019-2022 CHANGES ONLY
	23 FOP Supervisor Contract 2019-2022 CHANGES ONLY
	24 Fact Sheet ord 19-43 , 2018-1389 Stronghold Construction  CPFDP
	25 ord 19-43 , 2019-1389 Stronghold Construction  CPFDP
	ORDINANCE NO. 19-43
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	26  2019-1389 stronghold industrial
	27 City Council Ethics July 2019 v2
	Slide Number 1
	There are three sources of ethical considerations:
	Requests for political support
	Political Activity: Contributions
	Ohio’s Ethics Law�
	Potential Criminal Liability
	What is a conflict of interest?
	Favors, Gifts, Gratuities, and Rewards
	What is “Significant Value?”
	Favors, Gifts, Gratuities, and Rewards
	“Improper Influence”
	Art. VIII, Sec. 52 of the City Charter. 
	Gifts
	Holiday Gifts:  A Preview
	Outside Employment
	Outside Employment – Ohio Ethics Law
	Nepotism
	Definition of “Family Member”
	Definition of “Authorizing Employment”
	Definition of “Securing Employment”
	Anti-Solicitation Policy
	Anti-Solicitation Policy
	Anti-Solicitation Policy
	Financial Disclosure Statement Requirements
	Disclosures Include: 
	Resources
	Resources – formal and informal opinions by the Ohio Ethics Commission:
	Ethics Reporting

	28 finance June 2019
	29 city managers report 20190722
	30 contract approval 20190722
	CONTRACT APPROVAL – July 22, 2019
	2019
	DEPARTMENT
	AMOUNT
	VENDOR
	EXPLANATION OF AGREEMENT

	N/A
	State of Ohio ODNR, Div of Wildlife
	Subsidy agreement #2 for Fish with a Cop

	N/A
	Delaware County Emergency Communications
	Agreement to allow Delaware County Emergency Communications to enter LEADS and NCIC data

	N/A
	The Shelly Company
	Stone and asphalt for base repairs

	$28,520
	MS Consultants
	East Central Engineering Report and Safety Application

	$0.00
	Delaware County Sheriff’s Office
	Delaware County LEAP

	$0.00
	State of Ohio
	Depart of Defense property transferred to city of Delaware Police Department

	$0.00
	State of Ohio, ODNR, Div of Wildlife
	Subsidy agreement#1 for Fish with a Cop

	$55,270.69
	The Aero-Mark Company, LLC
	2019 Pavement Marking Maintenance

	N/A
	National Lime and Stone
	Stone for base repair work

	$1,231,630
	Gannett Flemming Engineers & Architects
	The Point Improvements, Part 1, Mod 1

	Cost per use
	MT Business Technologies
	Copier VIT Maintenance Protection

	$116.20
	Ohio Wesleyan University
	Emergency Medical Services


	31 July  2019
	32 August 2019



